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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT 
 

 

This year has again proven to be a demanding one for the Trust, as it has for many providers in the care 

sector.  The pressure on public sector budgets has been relentless and this in turn continues to have 

an impact on the Trust’s income. In addition, whilst costs imposed by central government such as auto-

enrol pensions, National Living Wage increases and the General Data Protection Regulation are 

encouraging news for our workforce, the changes have had a year-on-year effect on the Trust. We are 

fortunate to have a committed staff team and have continued to provide quality support for the people 

in our services.  That said, recruiting the quantity and calibre of staff that we require to continue providing 

the high quality support which is at the heart of the Trust’s purpose  is an ongoing challenge.  Against 

this background, I am therefore all the more proud of what the Trust has achieved during the year and 

the difference we have made to people’s lives.  

 

I was especially delighted that two of our services, The Woodmill, our brain injury rehabilitation centre 

in Devon, and our Sussex autism community houses - were judged as ‘Outstanding’ by the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC). This is, as I said to all the staff concerned at the time, the regulatory equivalent 

of  a gold medal; only 2% of all CQC inspections receive this grade.  

 

Elsewhere, I recently saw for myself the increased capacity of our brain injury service at Osman House 

in Leeds to accommodate 16 people with longer term needs, and we also opened our latest supported 

living scheme in Blackpool during the year. We have plans to extend our specialist services for people 

with a non-progressive acquired brain injury (ABI) at Eastfields in Glasgow and are working on a longer-

term project for a flagship service in York, given the success to date of our York House 

independent  hospital for people with brain injury and mental health conditions. 

 

We also began to develop increased capacity at  Heathermount, our successful school in Ascot for 

students with complex autism, and to move towards more supported living, rather than residential, 

services for adults with autism; autumn 2018 will see a number of people in Sussex and in Bedfordshire 

move into their new homes. We also revised our brain injury rehabilitation pathways and undertook 

further pilot work, funded by the Ministry of Justice, for prisoners with a brain injury. These changes are 

all part of the Trust’s Five Year Strategy which was agreed by Trustees during the year.   

 

The Brain Injury Rehabilitation Trust (BIRT) conference in Glasgow in September was attended by  260 

delegates from all over the world and attracted a great deal of positive feedback from delegates and 

speakers alike.  

 

My comments highlight the importance of our staff, so we celebrated again with our Annual Staff Awards 

for individuals and teams. Additionally, we are pleased that  we are bucking the Gender Pay Gap trend 

in both the care sector and the wider UK workforce, with women in the Trust earning slightly more 

(+2.6%) than men in 2017. Our aim is to see as diverse a workforce as possible, with male and female 

staff working in a range of roles at all levels and being appropriately remunerated. 

 

Irene Sobowale, Chief Executive 

https://www.thedtgroup.org/brain-injury/information-and-support/about-the-brain-and-brain-injury
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On a sadder note, we took the very difficult decision in the summer of 2017 to close one of our brain 

injury hospitals, Chalkdown House in Swindon, and in July 2018 we announced that our first ever 

service, Ernest Kleinwort Court in Burgess Hill, Sussex would close in October 2018. Our priority 

throughout has been the wellbeing of the people we support, and of our staff, but we remain only too 

aware that change, however much it is needed, is very difficult for all involved. 

 

As a Trust we value the leadership of our Trust Board and I would like to finish by welcoming Steve 

Howell as our new Chair of Trustees. Steve has been a Trustee for many years  and brings a wealth of 

experience to the role. He is a familiar face and warmly welcomed as he meets staff and the people we 

support on his regular visits to our services. I am grateful to him and all our Trustees for their time and 

dedication. 

 

 

Irene Sobowale 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
     November 2018 
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CHAIR’S STATEMENT 
 

  
 
The past 12 months have been amongst the most difficult for the Trust and although we had many 

successes, we also had to take the very difficult decision to close two of our services. We felt the impact 

of  an increase in our operating costs as well as reduced demand for certainservices as funders and 

commissioners made their own difficult decisions.   

 

The Disabilities Trust is not alone in feeling this pressure - it is a challenging time for all service providers 

within the health and care sector but on the positive side we are well placed to take advantage of 

opportunities that change inevitably brings. Our financial position is strong as is our asset base, the 

reserves are healthy and we have a talented team of staff working hard to modernise our service 

offerings and deliver the efficiencies that are fundamental to our future success.   

 

In May 2017, the Board and Executive Team developed and agreed the Trust’s 5 year strategy which 

will see us restructure our organisation; modernise and grow our autism services; refresh the way that 

we support people with brain injury; extend our service offering for children and adults with autism; and 

increase capacity in community services.  Commissioners are keen that people are able  to lead more 

independent lives and we know from experience how successful and fulfilling this can be for many of 

the people we support. There are opportunities for us to invest directly in new services as well as 

partnering with others and we are redefining our Board committees to ensure that we continue to invest 

prudently, but also that we can act quickly and decisively where the need arises.      

 

The Board of The Disabilities Trust plays a key role in the oversight of the organisation and while it is 

my privilege to take over as Chair, it is also my pleasure to pay tribute and thank Peter Jackson who 

retired from the Board last November. Peter had been a Trustee for many years and made a significant 

contribution to the development and success of the Trust.   

 

In my role as Chair, I have a unique opportunity to provide feedback about the Trust and in this regard, 

I invest a considerable amount of my time attending events and visiting services and service users.  

What strikes me most is the commitment and dedication of our staff and a genuine desire to ensure that 

the people we support lead the most fulfilling, independent lives they can.   

 

The list of potential accolades is too long for a report of this nature but by way of example, I had the 

pleasure of attending the 20th Anniversary of Redford Court, our brain injury service in Liverpool. During 

the event, a moving family tribute was read out about the way the life of a tragically injured service user 

had been transformed because of the dedication of the staff at the unit.   

 

I was so genuinely moved by the message that at the next Trustee Board meeting, I made sure a copy 

of the tribute was circulated to Trustees as a reminder to us all of why it is so important that we all 

continue to work as hard as we do – that is to ensure the future viability of the Trust so that we can 

continue to support those who depend on us.  Increases in operating costs, reduced demand for some 

Steve  Howell, Chair of Trustees

 

file://///dt-fs02/CSS/Finance/CSSFinManagers/Audit/2016-17/A%20-%20Financial%20statements/A1%20-%20DT%202017%20draft%20accounts%20v.6%2030-09-17%20tracked.docx
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services are all simply hurdles to be overcome – what matters most is that decisions we take now 

(however difficult) set us on the right path for the future.  

 

I was also present at the opening of our Connectability Hub at Shinewater Court in Eastbourne, which 

celebrates its 30th anniversary next year. The Hub was made possible through a fundraising appeal and 

offers disabled people in the local community, as well as those we support, free access to the latest 

assistive communications technology. We intend to bring some of this incredible technology to a wider 

audience because the difference it makes to some people is simply amazing.  

 

BIRT had another notable success in launching the Forensic In-Reach Brain Injury Service (FIBIS), 

securing contracts from the criminal justice sector, contributing to an All Parliamentary Group on brain 

injury and speaking about the Trust’s Linkworker service, where our linkworkers identify and support 

individuals by sign-posting to specialist services and offering tailored support on how to cope with a 

brain injury. The Ministry of Justice awarded a grant to FIBIS which has enabled  Linkworker services 

at five UK prisons and one probation service and provide training for prison staff and clinical and 

healthcare teams. 

 

Our school in Ascot continues to go from strength to strength and 60 young people with autism now 

have access to a first-rate education, demonstrated through GCSE results this year, but which has often 

been denied to them in the past. Such is the success of the school that in the year ahead, provision will 

be significantly expanded and the team are actively working on opportunities to further extend our reach.   

 

Of course, none of this would be possible without our dedicated and talented staff. I was fortunate to 

join some of the team at our annual Managers Conference and also at the Staff Awards ceremony and 

was amazed to hear how, during the winter’s treacherous and snowy conditions, many walked miles to 

work, dug cars from the snow and cleared access routes to ensure life could go on as normal for those 

we support. Stories such as this, and there are many, underline my feeling of pride to be leading the 

Trust as we continue to change the lives of people with complex needs. 

 

Finally, to the Executive Team and my Board colleagues, all of whom devote their intellect, time, energy 

and passion to ensure that The Disabilities Trust is the best it can be for the people we support, for our 

staff, for those who commission our services and for those who entrust us with their loved ones – you 

are a great team and Irene Sobowale, our talented CEO and I thank each of you for your hard work and 

dedication in what has proven to be one of the most difficult but significant years in our history.   

 
 
 
     
Mr S Howell 

Chair of Trustee Board 

 

     November 2018 
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TRUSTEES’ ANNUAL REPORT  
 
Trustees present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ending 31 

May 2018. The Trustees and the Trustees' annual report constitute the directors and the directors' report 

for Companies Act purposes. 

 

These financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the Companies Act 2006, the Charities 

and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the requirements of the charity's governing document and 

Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice (“SORP”) applicable to 

charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 

UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015). 

 

PURPOSE AND ACTIVITIES OF THE CHARITY  
 
The Disabilities Trust was founded more than 30 years ago and today is one of the UK's leading national 

charities. We provide specialist rehabilitation, care and support for adults with acquired brain injury, 

autism and physical disabilities, including those with complex needs. We also offer education services 

for children with autism. 

 

• We work in partnership with others to the mutual benefit of people with disabilities. 

• We offer tailored care and support to individuals living in the community and at home, to help 

them live as independently as possible. 

• Our Brain Injury Rehabilitation Trust (BIRT) has 11 residential assessment and rehabilitation 

centres, two independent hospitals and one post-acute service. 

• We operate 10 residential and community services and a special day school for those with autism 

or a physical disability to help them live more fulfilling, independent lives. 

• We support people with a brain injury who are on probation or in prison. 

• We invest in technology that can assist individuals to live as full a life as possible. 

• We ensure the Trust has sufficient funds to maintain current investment and finance any new 

services identified for the future. 

Mission Statement 

Inspired by the potential of people with disabilities, we are working in partnerships to provide the highest 

quality services for those within our area of expertise. 

Values 

People with disabilities are at the heart of all we do. At all times, we endeavour to enhance the 

independence and promote the rights of disabled people as equal members of society. 

We believe in: 

• the honesty and integrity of everyone in and associated with the Trust 

• respect and support for each other and our respective roles 

• accountability and responsibility at all times 

• working in partnership with others to the mutual benefit of people with disabilities. 

We have reviewed and are in the process of revising our values.  

 

https://www.thedtgroup.org/
https://www.thedtgroup.org/about-us/who-we-are
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What we do 

The wellbeing of those we support is at the heart of everything we do. Our services across the country 

include purpose-built residential accommodation, community-based housing, special education and 

community enabling services to maximise each individual's independence. 

Working in partnership with those we support, their families and friends, local authorities, health 

authorities, housing associations and other organisations, we have an established track record of 

delivering leading-edge services that meet the needs of people with complex and challenging 

disabilities. We are continually looking to refine our existing services and develop new ones in response 

to identified individual needs. 

 

Our services are funded largely by the NHS and by local authorities, which means we are effectively a 

business-to-business operation. Any surplus is reinvested in new services. We undertake some 

fundraising but this accounts for less than 1% of our turnover and is an area we are looking to develop. 

Our Trustees, who give their time voluntarily, review our aims and objectives annually to ensure we 

remain focused. They look at what we have achieved, how successful we have been and how our 

projects have benefitted those we seek to help. 

Our 'Governance Framework' helps us analyse information about how our services are delivered, so we 

can make changes where necessary. 

 

Public Benefit 
 
Trustees review the charity’s aims and objectives each year.  The review helps to ensure that our aims, 

objectives and activities remain focused on our stated purpose and also looks at: 

 

• what we have achieved and the outcomes of our work in the previous twelve months;  

• the success of each key activity; and  

• the benefits we have brought to those groups of people we are set up to help. 

   

Our Foundation enables us to invest some resources helping to improve the lives of people with 

disabilities, but who have little or no access to the support they desperately need. By providing services 

within our field of expertise, drawing on external  grants, our Foundation concentrates its work on 

supporting initiatives that would otherwise find difficulty attracting mainstream or traditional funding. 

 

All Trustees give their time voluntarily and receive no benefits from the charity, although two (who 

resigned during the year) were resident service users, funded through fees in the usual way.  Any 

expenses claimed from the charity are set out in Note 11 to the financial statements. 

 

Trustees have referred to the guidance contained in the Charity Commission’s general guidance on 

public benefit when reviewing our aims and objectives and in planning our future activities.  In particular, 

Trustees consider how planned activities will contribute to the aims and objectives we have set.  
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STRATEGIC REPORT 
 
In September 2017, Trustees approved the strategic direction of The Disabilities Trust. It was agreed 

that over the next five years we would rebalance the organisation to be less reliant on bed-based brain 

injury services and deliver more community-based support. We also agreed to grow and develop our 

Autism services for both children and for adults. 

 

We want to be the first choice for people with complex autism and brain injury and for everyone who 

supports them. We will do this by constantly pioneering new and improved ways of carrying out our 

responsibilities. 

 

The strategy was approved against a context of commissioners not always commissioning services that 

we offered and some autism services that were considered too large to meet the demands of modern 

care and commissioning best practice.  It was also clear that occupancy was consistently low in some 

of our larger brain injury services. 

 

Our school in Ascot for children with Autism achieved a ‘Good’ in its OFSTED report and has performed 

well. Demand for places at the School is high and with a clear ambition to ensure that each child 

achieves his or her academic potential, Trustees decided that expansion in specialist education is a key 

element of the strategy. 

 

We continue to be a provider of services for people with complex and specialist needs and are working 

with commissioners to modernise some services to keep pace with demands. To do this we need a 

workforce fit for the future, so we have reviewed our benefits and remuneration to ensure we can attract 

and retain suitably qualified and committed staff. 

 

The past year has been spent building foundations for this work to begin. The traditional offer of 

rehabilitation for people with post-trauma brain injury has been expanded to support people with long-

term complex needs and those who have had a Stroke. Our specialist-supported living services for 

people with brain injury are expanding, with new services in Brighton and in Blackpool and further 

services in the pipeline for Liverpool and Glasgow. 

 

Our offer to people with Autism is being progressed in the following key ways: 

 

- we are applying the positive behavioural support model across all services 

- expanding education to provide more places for children with Autism 

 

Our review of the way we deliver services for people with Physical Disabilities continues in order that 

we can ensure the services we offer are modern and meet the needs of those with complex conditions. 

 

To manage our operational costs and continually drive quality we have reorganised our services and 

streamlined management functions on a regional basis and also restructured parts of our central 

services. This also provides a foundation for growth. 

 

Trustees and the Senior Management Team will continue to review the strategy to ensure it is  effectively 

implemented. 
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ACHIEVEMENTS & PERFORMANCE 
Highlights 

• We have supported almost 1,000 people – well over 500 through the Brain Injury Rehabilitation 
Trust (BIRT), over 250 through our Autism and Disability Services (ADS) and more than 150 
through community services. 

• 267 people were admitted to our services in 2017-2018  

• 276 (29%) of those we supported were discharged during the year, most of these to a more 
independent living environment.  

• We shared our approach to brain injury and autism with keynote speaking parts at the Neuro-
Convention, The Autism Conference and Health + Care Conference.  

• In line with strategy to grow our brain injury services, work began in earnest on the planning and 
design of new services in Glasgow and on our proposed flagship, the replacement of York 
House. 

• A second #SeeMeNotDisability social media campaign was combined with UK Charity Week to 
showcase the achievements of those we support, this time in the arts, and received significant 
celebrity support.  

• We secured a grant from the Ministry of Justice for delivering further brain injury Linkworker pilots 
at seven sites across England and Wales via our forensic  (prison/probation-based) services. 

In our Autism and Disability Services 

• In Autumn 2018, people we support at Hollyrood in Lindfield, West Sussex, and in The 
Cotswolds, near Bedford, will move into newly-refurbished houses, each with their own tenancy.  

• The Connectability Hub at Shinewater Court in Eastbourne opened in October 2017 and now a 
mobile Hub concept is being developed by the Trust's innovation arm, the Foundation. 

• A group of senior Autism and Disability Support (ADS) colleagues were successfully trained in 
Positive Behaviour Support (PBS) and Conflict Management. This is part of our initiative to 
provide a specialist workforce for those with the most complex and challenging needs. 

In our Brain Injury Services  

• As planned, more people who have had a stroke were supported in our brain injury services.  

• In Leeds and Scotland investment and local initiatives drove up occupancy levels  

• We established relationships with property investors and housing associations. This led to new 
services in Blackpool (Speyside) and the start of work on a new development in Liverpool for 13 
people in their own apartments.  

• In our larger residential BIRT services, we continued to source and test new products which we 
believe will help rehabilitation. We evaluated the MindMotion™ GO (MMGO), a virtual 
environment neuro-rehabilitation platform, at Fen House in Ely and West Heath House, 
Birmingham. 

• Continuum Bridge home-monitoring technology is currently being used at Daniel Yorath House 
in Leeds to support the assessment of independence in a transitional living environment.  

• We continue our collaboration with academic partners at the University of Stirling and at the 
University of Bath, with a view to further develop technology to manage aggression (Stirling) and 
virtual reality to assess and rehabilitate executive functions (Bath).  

• The success of the Brain Injury Needs Indicator (BINI) continues. 991 BINIs have been 
requested by various organisations, including 274 local councils and 103 NHS Trusts, among 
others.  
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Plans for the future 

• We will increase our Community Support capacity, offering flexible, specialist support so that 

people can live in their own homes.  Existing support houses will undergo a review so we 

separate care from provision of accommodation and we will work in partnership with a range of 

housing associations to provide effective housing support in the form of tenancies. 

• Demand for service continues in Scotland and we will make significant investment expanding 

provision in Glasgow. 

• Work to scope a new flagship replacement for our York House hospital began in earnest and will 

provide a bespoke, state-of-the-art building for the support and delivery of Psychiatric Brain Injury 

and  specialist facilities to support people to live with optimum independence. 

• We are working hard to launch key new definitions of the pathways for the services we provide. 

In brain injury we know we support people with more short-term functional rehabilitation needs 

following stroke, we support people with cognitive, behavioural and/or mental health issues  to 

help them to manage their condition and also we support people with severe impairments and 

longer term needs. Our brain injury services, including community based services will be 

designed around these three key groups.  

• We continue to work with families, people we support and commissioners to transition our 

traditional large autism services, to more modern supported living or small specialist registered 

services. 

• In education, we are extending the capacity of our successful school Heathermount in Ascot by 

more than 30% in the next 12 months.   

• Our strategy to review our physical disability services involves working with colleagues, families 

and commissioners to design those services around the need in the areas they serve. Initial 

conversations indicate a requirement in certain areas for highly specialist services for people 

with complex needs. 

 

The Foundation and Research Initiatives   

• The Linkworker projects at Her Majesty's Prison (HMP) Preston and HMP Drake Hall are 

complete and the analysis and evaluation stages are underway. Our influencing work with 

Parliamentarians and policymakers will be refined with a focus on brain injury and offending. 

• Recruitment for the BIRT Memory and Information Processing Battery (BMIPB) project (a 

database that tests memory) is nearing completion, with more than 500 volunteers involved to 

date. Publication is expected in early 2019. 

• Grant applications will be made for an autism and mental health project. 

• The early scoping stages of a project for people with dual mental health and autism issues have 

been completed; detailed project development work and grant applications will be undertaken in 

2018/19. 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 

Summary 
• Net income reduced by £4.6m and resulted in a deficit of £0.5m in 2018. This is mainly due to 

the reduction in gains in investment assets of £2.9m, increase in support costs of £1.2m, a 

reduction in donation income of £0.3m and joint venture surpluses of £0.3m compared to the 

previous year. 

• The gain on investment assets was £0.3m compared to £3.2m last year, a reduction of £2.9m. 

This reflects the volatility of the equity markets.  

• Total incoming resources of the group amounted to £53.9m in 2018 compared to £57.1m in 

2017, a reduction of £3.2m due mainly to the closure  of Hamilton Lodge Trust Limited (HL), 

Chalkdown House and the winding up of the joint venture at Goole Neuro-Rehabilitation Centre 

(GNRC), which ceased trading on 31 August 2017. 

• Total resources expended fell slightly from £56.2m in 2017 to £54.7m in 2018. This is mainly 

due to the cessation of HL and Chalkdown House offset by the 4% increase in the National 

Living Wage and inflation-related pay rises. 

• Net income before gains on investments reduced by £1.7m to a deficit of £0.8m in 2018. This is 

mainly due to the increase in support costs of £1.2m, a reduction in donation income of £0.3m 

and a reduction in joint venture surpluses of £0.3m. 

• Actuarial losses of £0.4m during the year were caused by HL buying out the deficit on its defined 

benefit pension scheme. This compares to a gain in 2017 of £0.2m.  

• The net result for the year is a decrease in the net movement in funds from a surplus of £4.3m 

in 2017 to a deficit of £0.9m in 2018. 

• The total net assets of the group at 31 May 2018 were £92.7m, a reduction of £0.9m over 
2016/17. 

 
A summary of the group’s operating and non-operating activities is presented below: 

 2018 2017 

Operating activity £m £m 

Operating income (excluding investment income) 53.1 56.3 

Operating expenditure (54.7) (56.2) 

   

Operating (deficits) / surplus (1.6) 0.1 

   

Non-Operating activity £m £m 

Investment income 0.9 0.9 

Investment gains 0.3 3.2 

Actuarial pension adjustments (0.4) 0.1 

   

Non-Operating surplus 0.8 4.2 

 

Overall net (deficits) / surplus 

 

 

(0.8) 

 

4.3 

The principal funding sources are from statutory funders and resources are expended to the benefit of 

the charity's service users. 

The group prepares detailed budgets which are approved and monitored by the Trustees.  
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Financial review of subsidiaries 

BIRT merged with DT on  30 November 2017. The assets and liabilities were transferred to DT under a 

Deed of Transfer on a restricted basis. The net deficit of BIRT in the first six months was £0.03m and 

had net assets of £9.7m at the date of merger.  

  

HL had a deficit for the year of £0.9m. The deficit has arisen from continuing adverse operating results 

over a number of years and a decision was made by the Trustees to close HL. The closure was effective 

on the 31 August 2017 and DT agreed to take on any future liabilities as they arise. 

 

Rehabilitation Australia Limited (“RAL”) did not operate during the year. 

  

Investments 
 
The investments we hold, having been acquired in accordance with the powers available to the Trustees 

or by way of legacy, are subject to an investment policy which is reviewed on an annual basis. The 

current policy delegates the management of its investments to firms of investment managers. The 

Trustees also employed the services of a consultant who assists in financial advice, the selection of 

investment managers,monitoring of their performance and the objectives they are set.  

 

The present investment managers are Rathbones Investment Management Limited; Sarasin & Partners 

LLP and CCLA Fund Managers Limited. Each of the Managers are set their own specific investment 

objectives and mandate in line with the charity’s Investment Strategy, the overarching parameter of 

which is to maximise returns whilst ensuring that the charity’s liquidity requirements are met. 

Parameters are also set as to which asset classes are permissible, the extent to which they are invested 

and the credit ratings in their selection. 

   

The Trust does not seek to prescribe the nature of companies in which it will invest through the stock 

market. The primary objective is to achieve optimal financial returns in order to deliver its charitable 

objectives. In appointing the Investment Managers, the Trust has delegated the implementation of 

Ethically Responsible Investment such that the best interests of the charity’s beneficiaries are served. 

 

Increases in investment market values during the year resulted in a net growth in the value of the 

charity’s Investment Portfolios to £25.3m, an increase of £0.25m. Dividend and investment income from 

the investment portfolios was £0.9m, unchanged from 2017. The returns on our investments is in line 

with market expectations.  

 

Reserves 
 
The Trust seeks to expand services to provide the unmet needs of people with disabilities. To support 

this, the current reserves must be sufficient to meet the start-up costs of the agreed expansion of the 

service programme already approved by Trustees, to ensure the on-going viability of our existing 

services is financially under-pinned and to mitigate the financial impact in the unlikely event of the 

crystallisation of a financial risk as identified in our risk register. Overall the Trustees consider that a 

minimum reserve of £10m is required to cover this policy.  

 

The current level of unrestricted available reserves amounting to £25.6m is sufficient to meet this target 

as well as the capital commitments planned within 2018/19 totalling £8m. 

 

Trustees continue to review the level of reserves, bearing in mind the difficulties in maintaining funding 

levels and are incorporating this into our strategy which is regularly monitored and modified as 
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appropriate. The reserves policy derived from the five-year strategic review reflects the charity’s future 

plans and financial commitments. 

  

The Trustees have considered the policy on reserves and have designated the funds which represent 

the investment made in fixed assets for use by the group. The total designated fixed asset reserve is 

currently £51.9m (2017: £54.8m). 

 

After taking into account restricted funds of £9.1m, a surplus on the revaluation reserve of £6.3m and 

a £0.2m deficit on the pension reserve, the group’s total funds amounted to £92.6m at 31 May 2018. 

 

Trustees consider that the assets of each fund (including the revaluation reserve and pension reserve 

balances) are sufficient to meet current and future commitments that will arise. 

 

Market value of land and buildings 
 
The charity’s investment properties were professionally valued in January 2016 by Dunlop Heywood, 

professional property services at fair value on an existing use basis. The valuations were undertaken 

in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in compliance with the 

regulations laid down by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors under the “RICS Valuation 

Professional Standards UK” revised April 2015. Details of the assumptions made and the key sources 

of estimation uncertainty are given in note 2.  

 

The Investment properties were previously used by BIRT which merged with the charity on 30 

November 2017 and BIRT continue to utilise these properties after the merger. Hence, they are not 

treated as Investment Properties at the end of this financial year. 

 

Investments held by nominees 
 
Our investments include £13.5m managed by Rathbone Investment Management Limited and £11.9m 

managed by Sarasin & Partners LLP held on the charity’s behalf. 

 

In the case of the investments managed by Rathbone Investment Management Limited, UK 

investments are registered in the name of Rathbone Nominees Limited and overseas investments are 

deposited with The Bank of New York Mellon as nominee. 

 

Our investments managed by Sarasin & Partners LLP are held on our behalf to the order of Sarasin & 

Partners LLP Clients’ Account by the London branch of The Bank of New York Mellon either in the 

name of their nominee company or in safe custody or to their order by their overseas agents. 

 

No other persons acted as nominee for the charity during the year. 

 

Going Concern 
 
Due to the reserves policy, The Disabilities Trust has in place and through consideration of the forecasts 

and strategy to 2022, Trustees consider that there is no material uncertainty that the group has 

adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, we 

continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  
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PRINCIPAL RISKS (and how they are managed) 

The Board of Trustees ("the Board") acknowledges its responsibility in relation to the risks associated 

with the Charity and its subsidiary undertaking. The Charity continually monitors and reviews its risks at 

both strategic and operational level and maintains a corporate risk register which is regularly reviewed 

by the senior management team and the Audit Committee on behalf of the board of trustees. The highest 

ranking strategic risks, derived from the Charity's Risk Register are set out below. 

Strategic 

Risk 

Risk Description Mitigation 

Quality Failure to deliver safe and effective 

services because of poor quality 

assurance. 

• New clinical audit strategy and quality 
and governance committees. 

• Risk Register for each service. 

• Staff training and competencies 
reviewed on a quarterly basis. 

• SMT Governance and oversight at a bi-
monthly Corporate Integrated 
Governance (“CIG") meeting. 

People Inability to recruit and retain key staff 

with appropriate skills, loss of 

momentum and continuity in 

delivering objectives. 

• Introduction of centralised recruitment 
team with supporting recruitment 
strategy. 

• Effective learning and development 
strategy. 

• Improved reward and benefits 
package. 

• Response to results from staff 
satisfaction survey. 

Strategy and 

Growth 

Failure to meet health and social 

commissioners' service delivery 

expectations and therefore being 

outperformed by competitors. 

• New five-year strategy addresses the 
need to modernise in line with market 
analysis in trends in health & social 
care in our chosen markets. 

• Horizon scanning activity, to gather 
market knowledge and then respond in 
a swift and decisive way. 

• Relationship marketing strategy 
ensuring we remain close to key 
commissioners and their needs. 

Strategy Inability to deliver the agreed strategy 

and effectively manage the required 

transformational change. 

• Transformation Board established to 
govern the effective implementation of 
the strategy; meets monthly to give 
project oversight, prioritise projects and 
report on use of resources. 

Clinical That the Disabilities Trust dilutes the 

defining clinical model for brain injury 

(Neuro-Behavioural Model). 

• Clinical pathway and service change 
underway with outcomes identified. 

• Revision of professional structures in 
line with changes in the professional 
environment. 
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 
 

Constitution  

The Disabilities Trust is a company limited by guarantee and governed by a Memorandum and Articles 

of Association. The company is registered with the Charity Commissioners as a charity whose purpose 

is to relieve people with disabilities in any manner which may be deemed to be charitable, particularly 

by the provision of special housing units for persons with disabilities in need. It is also registered with 

the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator. 

 

Governance and Decision Making 

The charity is governed by the Board of Trustees, which meets at least six times a year to review the 
monthly management accounts, receive reports from the various sub committees and the Senior 
Management Team (SMT) and to consider any other relevant matters. 
 
The Trustees have delegated the day to day management of the charity to the SMT comprising the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) and a number of executive directors. The SMT meets monthly. 
 
The Trustees have also established a number of sub-committees with membership and specific terms 
of reference as set out below. In addition to the membership stated, the CEO has a right to attend all 
committees apart from the audit committee, which she attends by invitation. 
 

• Audit and Risk Committee - Comprises up to four Trustees and meets at least twice a year to 
review the charity’s internal and external procedures. The Chair, CEO, Director of Finance, and 
representatives of the external auditors attend meetings at the invitation of the Committee. In 
addition, there is at least one meeting a year where the Audit Committee meets the external auditors 
without executive management present. 

• Chairman’s Committee - Comprises the Chair and Vice Chair. The Committee meets as required 
to set the agenda between board meetings. The CEO and Director of Finance also attend this 
Committee. 

• Finance and Investment Committee - Comprises the Chair and up to four other Trustees. The 
Committee meets at least three times a year to review financial policies & processes, investments 
and strategies and to make recommendations to the Board. The CEO, Director of Finance, 
Independent Investment Advisor and representatives from external investment houses attend 
meetings at the invitation of the Committee.  

• Heathermount Board of Governors' - Heathermount, which is a school operating in the Autism 
division of DT, requires a Board of Governors. The Charity's interest in the Board of Governors is 
represented by a committee comprising at least one Trustee and senior operational representatives.  
The Committee meets up to four times a year. 

• Quality and Governance Committee – Comprises the Chair and up to four other Trustees and 
meet up to four times a year to review and provide assurance to the Board on all matters relating to 
quality. The CEO and Director of Governance & Quality attend meetings at the invitation of the 
Committee. 

• Remuneration and Nominations Committee - Comprises the Chair, the Vice Chair and up to 
three other Trustees. The Committee meets at least once a year to consider and review the 
remuneration package for the CEO, to consult with the CEO on recommendations for salary levels 
for the SMT and other recommendations made on behalf of personnel. It also considers succession 
planning for Trustees, CEO and other executive directors whose appointment is key to the charity.  

• York House Board Committee – The charity has a 50% interest in York House Ventures Limited 
and the Board of Directors of that Company comprises an equal number of Members from the 
charity and the joint venture partner. The Committee comprises a trustee, the CEO and another 
representative appointed by The Board and meets three times a year to consider the business of 
the York House service. 

 

Trustee Recruitment and Term of Office 
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Trustees are a critical resource and give their time freely in support of the Trust. Trustees are elected to 
the board by the Members at the Annual General Meeting for a period of three years.  
  
Trustee vacancies are generally advertised and Trustees and the Executive may also nominate potential 
candidates from their own professional networks. Recruitment of new Trustees is overseen by the 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee (a sub-committee of the main Board) and includes input 
from the Chief Executive Officer.   
  
The Charity Commission recommend that Trustees should serve a maximum of three terms of three 
years. Trustees support the recommendation but being mindful of the scale and pace of change currently 
within the Trust, would wish to ensure a phased departure of any longer serving Trustees. In order to 
provide a smooth and effective succession, as of the May 2018 Board meeting, all current Trustees will 
serve for a maximum of nine years. Trustees who have already served nine or more years and are up 
for re-election in November 2018, will serve a maximum of one further term of three years. This will 
allow a managed rolling programme for succession and the release of longstanding Trustees. 
  
In very exceptional circumstances, the Board of Trustees may exercise discretion by asking a Trustee 
in a key role (for example, a Committee Chair or the Board Chair) to serve an additional term of three 
years. If Trustees exercise such discretion, the matter will be documented in a Board minute.  
  
We expect the exceptions we are currently permitting to no longer be the case following 2023. 
 

Related Parties 
 

Brain Injury Rehabilitation Trust (BIRT), a wholly owned subsidiary of The Disabilities Trust (DT), 
merged with DT on the 30 November 2017. It provides a range of services for people with acquired 
brain injury and helps people regain lost skills and independence following a serious brain injury. 
 
Hamilton Lodge Trust Limited (HL), a wholly owned subsidiary of DT and a registered charity, ceased 
trading on 31 August 2017. It previously provided specialist housing and high quality care, rehabilitation 
and support to people with autism and learning disabilities. 
 
Rehabilitation Australia Limited (RAL), a wholly owned subsidiary of DT and a registered charity in 
Australia, previously provided services to people with acquired brain injury but is no longer operating. 
 
York House Ventures (YHV) is a joint venture in which DT has a 50% interest. It provides a rehabilitation 
centre for people with brain injuries in York. The remaining 50% interest is held by The Retreat York. 
 
Goole Neuro Rehabilitation Centre (GNRC) is a joint venture in which DT has a 50% interest. Its 
activities were transferred to Northern Lincolnshire and Goole Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust on 31 
August 2017, which owned the remaining 50% interest. GNRC provided rehabilitation to people with 
brain injuries and short admission facilities to people with chronic neurological illness. 

 

Trustees 
The Trustees who held office during the year were as follows: 
 

 Committee membership  
Mr P J Jackson C, F&I, R&N Resigned 20 Nov 2017 
Mr S Howell C, F&I, R&N  Appointed Chair 20 Nov 2017 
Dr P Dobrowolski R&N, Q&G   
Dr C S Drugan  F&I, RG, H   
Mr M Green C, F&I, A&R, R&N  
Mr R A Hoyle  F&I, A&R, Y  
Ms E C Jackman  H, RG  
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Trustees (continued) 
 
Ms T S Livadeas  A&R, Q&G  
Mr C Philipsborn  Q&G  
Mr M Rowe F&I, A&R, Q&G  
Mrs C Yorath Q&G  
 

Key to Committee Membership 
 
We undertook a review of committees during the year with the following amends: 

• We disbanded the FWG and the Marketing/PR Committee 
• Executive committee was renamed Chairman’s Committee 
• Finance committee changed to Finance & Investment Committee 
• Audit committee changed to Audit & Risk Committee 
• Research Ethics changed to Research Governance Committee (RG) 
• Created a Quality & Governance Committee 

 
AR  Audit & Risk Committee   
R&N    Remuneration & Nominations 
C  Chairman’s Committee  
H      Heathermount Governors    
Y  York House Ventures Limited  
F&I  Finance & Investment Committee  
RG  Research Governance Committee  
Q&G  Quality and Governance Committee     
 

Company Secretary 

The Company Secretary, David Cunningham, resigned on 1 December 2017. 

Senior Management Team 
 
The Senior Management Team, to whom the Trustees have delegated the day to day management 
of the charity, is as follows: 
 

Mrs I Sobowale Chief Executive 

Ms N Carey Director of Human Resources 

Ms S Clifford Director of Communications  

Mr B Chidgey Director of Finance (appointed 4 September 2017) 

Dr S Copstick Director of Clinical Services 

Mr B Aspland Director of Finance (resigned 12 June 2017) 

Mrs C Murray-Howard Director of BIRT, Strategy and Business Development (from 1 July 

2017) and Director of Strategy and Business Development (from 19 

March 2018) (resigned 12 October 2018) 

Mr D Pilsbury Director of Governance & QA (resigned 27 March 2018) 

Mr D Davie Director of IT (appointed 9 April 2018) 

Mrs C Taylor Director of Autism and Disability Services 

Executive Director of Operations (appointed 19 March 2018 resigned 

July 2018)  

Mrs V Pilkington 

 

Director of Quality Assurance (appointed 2 April 2018) 
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Remuneration Policy 
For the purposes of disclosure of the remuneration of key management personnel, the Trustees 

consider key management personnel to be the Senior Management Team (“SMT”). Pay is set by the 

Remuneration and Nominations Committee as detailed on page 15. 

Equality Statement 

The Disabilities Trust is proud of the support it provides through a diverse workforce matched to the 

communities in which we support. Through clear engagement, training and leadership, our workforce 

is adept at being inclusive and recognising that diversity brings strength and opportunity for people to 

achieve their best. The Disabilities Trust embeds the principles of the Equality Act throughout the 

organisation. 

Funds held on behalf of others 
At the year end, the group, as custodian trustee, held monies totalling £408,000 (2017: £460,000) on 
behalf of its clients. These monies are not included within the balance sheet and are held separately in 
clearly identifiable bank accounts. 
 

Payments to Suppliers 
Settlement terms are agreed with suppliers as part of contract terms and it is the policy of the charity to 
pay in accordance with those terms. Other creditors are paid in accordance with invoice terms. 
 

Employees 
We have continued to demonstrate our commitment to effective communication, both formally and 
informally, adopting communication processes appropriate to our needs. 
 
We continue to maintain and improve, where appropriate, the highest possible standards. This reflects 
the value and contribution of all staff. 
 
It is our policy to promote equality of employment by giving full and fair consideration to applications 
from disabled people for vacancies where particular requirements are considered to be within their skills 
and experience.  In the case of existing employees who may become disabled, every effort is made to 
retain them within the workforces, subject, if necessary, to retraining.  Training, career development 
and promotion opportunities apply equally to all employees, taking into consideration their aptitudes 
and abilities. 
 
It is also our policy to maintain and develop the involvement of all employees in our affairs.  Local 
managers provide, on a regular basis, information of concern to employees using a variety of methods 
such as business review meetings, briefing discussions and training sessions.  The views of employees 
are also sought on matters affecting them. 
 
Staff are kept informed of activities across the organisation through, for example, our e-magazine 
dtFocus, the CEO’s regular Round-Up and other communications distributed centrally. 
 

Supporters 
We would like to thank all our donors and supporters, in particular the estate of the late  MJ Creed, the 
Huw Thatcher Fund, the estate of the late AE Morgan, Forrester Trust and  Groundwork UK. 
 
 
The Trustees’ Report (including the Strategic Report) has been approved by the Board of Trustees of 
The Disabilities Trust on       November 2018 and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
Mr S Howell   
Chair of Trustee Board  
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LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION 
Registration 
  

Name of the charity: The Disabilities Trust 

 
Company registration number: 
 
Country of incorporation: 

 
2334589 
 
United Kingdom 

 
Charity registration number: 
England and Wales 
Scotland 

 
 
800797 
SCO38972 

 
Registered office: 

 
First Floor 
32 Market Place 
Burgess Hill 
West Sussex 
RH15 9NP 

Trustees: P J Jackson (resigned 20 November 2017) 
Dr P Dobrowolski 
Dr C S Drugan 
M Green 
S Howell 
R A Hoyle 
Ms E C Jackman 
Ms T S Livadeas  
C Philipsborn  
M Rowe 
Mrs C Yorath 
 

Secretary: Mr D Cunningham (resigned 1 December 
2017) 

  

Bankers: Barclays Bank plc 
Level 28 
1 Churchill Place 
London 
E14 5HP 

Solicitors: Capsticks LLP 
1 St. George’s Road 
Wimbledon 
London 
SW 19 4DR 
 

 DAC Beachcroft LLP 
100 Fetter Lane 
London 
EC4A 1BN 
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Charles Russell Speechlys LLP 
One London Square 
Cross Lanes 
Guildford 
GU1 1UN 

  

Investment Managers Rathbone Investment Management Limited 
8 Finsbury Circus 
London 
EC2M 7AZ 
 
Sarasin & Partners LLP 
Juxon House 
100 St Paul’s Churchyard 
London 
EC4M 8BU 

  
COIF Charity Fund 
Senator House 
85 Queen Victoria Street 
London 
EC4V 4ET 
 

Auditor: Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Registered Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
30 Finsbury Square 
London 
EC2A 1AG 
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TRUSTEES’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT  
 
The trustees (who are also directors of The Disabilities Trust for the purposes of company law) are 

responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and regulations. 

 

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that 

law the trustees have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), 

including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland. 

Under company law the trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied 

that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and the group and of 

the incoming resources and application of resources, including the income and expenditure, of the group 

for that period.  In preparing these financial statements, the trustees are required to: 

 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• observe the methods and principles set out in the Charities SORP (FRS 102); 

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the group will continue in business. 

 

The trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 

explain the charitable company's and group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time the financial position of the charitable company and the group and enable them to ensure that 

the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006,  the Charities and Trustee Investment 

(Scotland) Act 2005, the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) and the 

provisions of the trust deed. The trustees are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 

charitable company and the group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 

detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

 

The trustees confirm that:  

• so far as each trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable 

company’s auditor is unaware; and 

• the trustees have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as trustees in order to make 

themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the charitable 

company’s auditor is aware of that information. 

 

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 

included on the charitable company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 

preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

 
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 
 
 
 
Mr S Howell   
Chair of Trustee Board  
     November 2018 
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AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
Independent auditor’s report to the members and trustees of The Disabilities Trust  
 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of The Disabilities Trust (the ‘parent charitable company’) 

and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 May 2018 which comprise Consolidated 

Statement Financial Activities, the Charity Statement of Financial Activities, the Consolidated and 

Charity Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, and notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 

that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 

including Financial Reporting Standard 102; The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and parent charitable company's affairs as at 

31 May 2018 and of the group's and the parent charitable company's incoming resources and 

application of resources, including the group's and the parent income and expenditure for the 

year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the 

Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulations 6 and 8 of the Charities 

Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We have been appointed as auditor under section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment 

(Scotland) Act 2005 and under the Companies Act 2006 and report in accordance with regulations made 

under those Acts. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 

(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are 

independent of the group and parent charitable company in accordance with the ethical requirements 

that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, 

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Who we are reporting to 

This report is made solely to the charitable company's members and trustees, as a body, in accordance 

with Section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and under Chapter 3 

of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 

the charitable company's members and trustees those matters we are required to state to them in an 

auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 

assume responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and its members and trustees as a 

body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require 

us to report to you where: 

• the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 

statements is not appropriate; or 
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• the trustees  have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties 

that may cast significant doubt about the group’s or the parent charitable company’s ability to 

continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months 

from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

 

Other Information 

The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Annual Report, set out on pages 30 to 60 other than the financial statements and our 

auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 

and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility 

is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 

to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 

misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial 

statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 

to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the Strategic Report and Trustees' Annual Report for the financial year 

for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

• the Strategic Report and Trustees' Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with 

applicable legal requirements. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report under the Companies Act 2006 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent charitable company and its 

environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in 

the Strategic Report and Trustees' Annual Report. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 and the 

Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) requires us to report to you if, in our 

opinion: 

• proper and adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent charitable company, 
or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

• the parent charitable company's financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 
 

Responsibilities of trustees for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Trustees' Responsibilities Statement on page 22, the trustees (who are 

also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the 

preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for 

such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
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statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the group and the 

parent charitable company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 

related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either 

intend to liquidate the group or parent charitable company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on  

the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 

Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 

part of our auditor’s report. 

Jennifer Brown 

Senior Statutory Auditor 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP 

Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants, London 

Date: 

Grant Thornton UK LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 

2006 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities – Incorporating Income and Expenditure Account 
for the year ended 31 May 2018 

  

 
Discontinuing 

Operations 

 
Continuing 
Operations 

    

Income from Note 

 
 

Unrestricted 
funds 

 
 

Restricted 
Funds 

 
 

Unrestricted 
funds 

 
 
 

Restricted 
funds 

 
       Total 

Unrestric-
ted 

Funds 
 

 
Total 

Restricted 
 funds 

 
 

    Total 
funds 

2018 

 
 

Total 
funds 

2017 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
          
Donations and legacies 3 - - 13 234 13 234 247 507 
          
Charitable activities:          
Improving the lives of 
people with disabilities        4 - 347 38,918 12,955 38,918 13,302 52,220 55,231 
          
Investment income 5 -  - 853 2 853 2 855 871 
          
Share of surplus of joint 
ventures 16 - - 95 - 95 - 95 400 
          
Other income  6 - 2 399 104 399 106 505 84 

          

Total income  - 349 40,278 13,295 40,278 13,644 53,922 57,093 

 
Expenditure on:          
Raising funds 7 - - 135 - 135 - 135 137 
          
Charitable activities:          
Improving the lives of 
people with disabilities 8(i)           - 865 41,191 12,423 41,191 13,288 54,479 56,020 
Other 21  - - - 103 - 103 103 - 

          

Total expenditure  - 865 41,326 12,526 41,326 13,391 54,717 56,157 

          

Net income before 
gains on investments 12 - (516) (1,048) 769 (1,048) 253 (795) 936 
          
Gains on investment 
assets 9 - - 318 - 318 - 318 3,212 

          

Net 
(expenditure)/income  - (516) (730) 769 (730) 253 (477) 4,148 
          
Transfers between 
funds 21&22 - - 2,010 (2,010) 2,010 (2,010) - - 
          

  - (516) 1,280 (1,241) 1,280 (1,757) (477) 4,148 
Other recognised 
gains/(losses)          
Actuarial (loss)/gain on defined 
benefit pension                       27     (427) - - - (427) - (427) 161 

         

          

Net movement in 
funds  (427) (516) 1,280 (1,241) 853 (1,757) (904) 4,309 

          
Total funds brought 
forward  - (1,127) 82,736 11,945 82,736 10,818 93,554 89,245 
          
Total funds carried 
forward 21&22 (427) (1,643) 84,016 10,704 83,589 9,061 92,650 93,554 

 
 

All gains and losses recognised in the current and preceding financial year are included in the consolidated statement of 
financial activities.  The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Charity Statement of Financial Activities  
(Incorporating Income and Expenditure Account) 
For the year ended 31 May 2018 

 

  

  
Unrestricted 

funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2018  
Total funds 

2017  
 Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Income from:      
      
Donations and legacies 3 13 119 132 755 
      
Charitable activities:      
Improving the lives of people with disabilities 4 39,707 - 39,707 26,932 
      
Investment income 5 1,965 - 1,965 3,156 
      
Other income  6 397 - 397 68 

      

  42,082 119 42,201 30,911 

Donations of net assets arising on merger 31 - 9,731 9,731 - 

Total income  42,082 9,850 51,932 30,911 

      
Expenditure on:      
      
Raising funds 7 135 - 135 123 
      
Charitable activities:      
Improving the lives of people with disabilities 8(i) 44,272 - 44,272 29,585 
Other 21 - 103 103 - 

      

      

Total expenditure  44,407 103 44,510 29,708 

      
Net income before (losses)/gains on 
investments 12 (2,325) 9,747 7,422 1,203 
      
Gains on investment assets 9 318 - 318 3,212 

      

      
Net (expenditure)/income  (2,007) 9,747 7,740 4,415 
      

Transfers between funds 21&22 1,731 (1,731) - - 

      
Net movement in funds  (276) 8,016 7,740 4,415 
      
Reconciliation of funds:      
      
Total funds brought forward  88,656 1,036 89,692 85,277 
      

Total funds carried forward 21&22 88,380 9,052 97,432 89,692 

 
All the income and expenditure shown above relate to continuing activities. All gains and losses recognised in the current 
and preceding financial year are included in the statement of financial activities. 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated and Charity Balance Sheets 
As at 31 May 2018 

 

   

  Group Charity 
 Note 2018 2017 2018 2017 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Fixed assets:      
      
Intangible assets  14 2,124 2,372 2,124 2,372 
Tangible assets – investment properties 15 - - - 34,680 
                          – other  53,260 55,869 56,190 22,694 
Investments 16 25,350 25,101 26,173 27,260 
Net assets in joint ventures 16 95 400 - - 

Total fixed assets  80,829 83,742 84,487 87,006 

      
Current assets:      
Stocks 17 14 36 14 18 
Debtors 18 7,460 8,599 8,593 5,367 

Cash at bank and in hand  12,483 10,165 12,446 7,732 

Total current assets  19,957 18,800 21,053 13,117 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 19 (7,592) (8,176) (7,564) (9,868) 

Net current assets  12,365 10,624 13,489 3,249 

      
Total assets less current liabilities  93,194 94,366 97,976 90,255 
      
Provisions for liabilities 20 (357) (511) (357) (366) 

      

Net assets (excluding pension scheme liability)  92,837 93,855 97,619 89,889 

      
Defined benefit pension scheme liability 28 (187) (301) (187) (197) 
      

Total net assets   92,650 93,554 97,432 89,692 

      
The funds of the charity:      

Restricted income funds 21 9,062 10,819 9,052 1,036 

Unrestricted funds 22     
- revaluation reserve  6,323 6,321 6,323 9,311 
- designated funds  51,895 54,763 57,197 56,748 
- pension reserve  (187) (300) (187) (197) 
-general funds  25,557 21,951 25,047 22,794 
      

Total unrestricted funds  83,588 82,735 88,380 88,656 

      

Total funds  92,650 93,554 97,432 89,692 

 
 
 
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Trustees on    November 2018 and were 
signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mr S Howell - Chair 
Company number: 2334589  
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
 
For the year ended 31 May 2018 

 

  

 Note 2018 2017 
  £’000 £’000 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
    
Net cash provided by operating activities 24 793 2,080 
    
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Dividends & interest from investments  855 871 
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment  1,755 281 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (1,203) (3,712) 
Purchase of intangible fixed assets  (263) (1,255) 
Proceeds from the sale of investments  1,244 4,548 
Purchase of investments    (1,263) (4,489) 
Gift aid received from joint ventures   400 - 

    

Net cash generated/(used) by investing activities  1,525 (3,756) 

    
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year  2,318 (1,676) 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period  10,165 11,841 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period  12,483 10,165 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The charity has availed itself of the exemption available under para 1.12(b) of FRS 102 not to produce a charity cash-flow 
statement. 

 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended 31 May 2018 

 

   

1. Principal accounting policies 
Our principal accounting policies have remained unchanged from the previous year and are set out 
below. 
 
Basis of preparation 
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are 
considered material in relation to the charity's financial statements. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by 
Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 
102) (effective 1 January 2015) – (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2006. 
 
DT meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. Assets and liabilities are initially 
recognised at historical cost unless otherwise stated in the relevant accounting policy. 
 
The accounts are presented in £ Sterling. 
 
Going concern 
After reviewing the charity’s forecasts and projections, the Trustees consider that there is no material 
uncertainty that the group and the charity have adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future, being at least twelve months. The group and the charity therefore continue 
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
 
Subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures 
The consolidated statement of financial activities and group balance sheet incorporate the financial 
statements of the charity and its subsidiary undertakings on a line by line basis. The acquisition method 
of accounting has been used. Under this method, the results of the subsidiary undertakings are included 
in the consolidated statement of financial activities from the date of acquisition, which has been deemed 
to be the date the subsidiary undertakings came under the group's control. 
 
The group's share of the results of the joint ventures is included in the consolidated statement of 
financial activities and the group's share of the net assets of the joint ventures is included in investments 
in the group balance sheet. 
 
In the charity's own financial statements, the investment in subsidiary undertakings is stated at the net 
book value of the assets of the subsidiary undertakings at the date of acquisition. The charity's 
investment in the joint ventures is stated at cost. 
 
The amalgamation of the Brain Injury Rehabilitation Trust (BIRT), a wholly owned subsidiary of The 
Disabilities Trust, has been referred to in the Annual Report and Accounts as a merger, reflecting both 
the tone of the combination and that no cash consideration was paid to BIRT. However, the transaction 
has been accounted for in the financial statements under the principles of acquisition accounting. Full 
details are found under Note 31. 
 
Hamilton Lodge Trust Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of The Disabilities Trust and provided services 
to people with learning disabilities and autism, ceased trading on 31 August 2017 further to the Trustees' 
decision as a result of its continued operating deficits. Its results are included as part of discontinued 
on the Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
The charity was an equal joint venture party with Northern Lincolnshire and Goole Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust (Nlag) of Goole Neuro-Rehabilitation Centre (GNRC) which provides a post acute 
brain injury rehabilitation centre in Goole. The activities of GRNC was transferred to Nlag from            
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Principal accounting policies (continued) 
 
1 September 2017. The group results on the Statement of Financial Activities include those of GNRC 
for the 3 months to 31 August 2017. 
 
Incoming resources 
Voluntary income including donations, gifts, legacies and grants is recognised where there is 
entitlement, probability of receipt and the amount can be measured with sufficient reliability. Such 
income is only deferred when: 

• The donor specified that the grant or donation must only be used in future accounting periods, 
or 

• The donor has imposed conditions which must be met before the charity has unconditional 
entitlement. 

 
The following specific policies apply to certain categories of income: 

• Income from fees is recognised as the services are provided. Any amount received in advance 
of services being provided is included as deferred income. The majority of our funding is 
received from local authorities. 

• Donated goods or services are included in the financial statements at an estimate based on the 
value of the donation to the group. 

• Grants are included in the statement of financial activities when the conditions for receipt have 
been complied with. 

• Investment income is included in the statement of financial activities when receivable including 
recoverable tax. 

 
Resources expended 
Expenditure has been charged to the statement of financial activities on an accruals basis. Costs are 
shown inclusive of any related value added tax. Expenditure categories noted below are analysed in 
the various notes to the financial statements: 
 
- Raising funds 

Costs of raising funds are the costs incurred in attracting voluntary income. 
 

- Charitable activities 
These are the costs involved in activities where the aim is the objectives of the group. They include 
direct costs, support costs and governance costs as detailed below.  
 

- Direct costs 
These include the cost of direct service delivery including all staff and other directly attributable costs.  
 

- Support costs 
Support costs include the costs of the central support office functions such as central management, 
financial administration, human resources, information systems and finance costs. They have 
generally been allocated to cost categories on the basis of staff costs and staff numbers, which in 
turn is judged to allocate costs on a reasonable basis consistent with the activity's usage. 
 

- Governance costs 
Governance costs include those incurred in the governance of the charity and its assets and are 
primarily associated with constitutional and statutory requirements. 
 

Lease contracts 
Operating lease rentals are charged to the statement of financial activities on a straight-line basis over 
the life of the lease. 
 
 
Principal accounting policies (continued) 
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Intangible fixed assets and depreciation  
Depreciation is calculated to write down the cost less estimated residual value of all intangible fixed 
assets over their expected useful lives. The rates generally applicable are:  
Computer software    - 25% per annum   
 
Tangible fixed assets and depreciation 
Depreciation is calculated to write down the cost less estimated residual value of all tangible fixed assets 
other than freehold land by equal annual instalments over their expected useful lives. The rates 
generally applicable are: 
Freehold buildings 2% per annum 
Short leasehold improvements over period of lease 
Computers 25% per annum 
Fixtures and fittings 15% per annum 
Motor vehicles 33.3% per annum on high mileage vehicles 
Motor vehicles 15% per annum on people carriers 
 
No depreciation is provided on freehold land.  
 
Impairment reviews are only carried out if there is an indication that the recoverable amount of a tangible 
fixed asset is below its net book value. 
 
Properties under construction are stated at cost. Cost comprises directly attributable costs and 
borrowing costs. Such properties are not depreciated until they are reclassified after completion. 
 
There is a de minimus capitalisation limit of £500. 
 
Investment properties 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value at the reporting date.  
 
Valuations are carried out on an annual basis, with a valuation of all investment properties being 
performed in January 2016 by independent professionally qualified surveyors. Valuation movements 
arising from the revaluation exercise are included within “Losses/gains on investment assets” in the 
Statement of financial activities. 
 
The valuations are undertaken in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(GAAP) in compliance with the regulations laid down by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 
under the “RICS Valuation Professional Standards UK” revised April 2015. Assumptions are based on 
the market prices of comparable properties and assume continuation of the current use. 
 
Investments 
Investments are stated in the balance sheet using the mid price at market value. All realised and 
unrealised gains and losses are taken to the statement of financial activities and are reflected in 
'(losses)/gains on investment assets'. Realised gains and losses are calculated as the difference 
between market value at the beginning of the year and sale proceeds. Unrealised gains are derived 
from movement in market value during the year. 
 
Stocks 
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In determining the cost of raw materials 
and consumables, the purchase price is used. 
 
Debtors 
Trade and other debtors are recognised at the transaction amount, net of trade discounts and are 
reduced by amounts which are not considered to be recoverable. 
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Principal accounting policies (continued) 
 
Cash at bank and in hand 
Cash at bank and in hand includes cash and short term highly liquid investments with a short maturity 
of three months or less from the date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account. 
 
Creditors 
Creditors and provisions are recognised where the group and the charity have a present obligation 
resulting from a past event that will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party and the 
amount due to settle the obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are 
normally recognised at their settlement amount after allowing for any trade discounts due. 
 
Provisions for liabilities 
 
- Stakeholder participation award scheme 

A discretionary deferred stakeholder participation award scheme is in operation to aid the 
retention of skilled staff. 

- Dilapidations provision 
The dilapidations provision is recognised on a lease by lease basis and is based on the group’s 
best estimate of the likely committed cash flow. 

 
Employee benefits 
Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Redundancy costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which the charity becomes irrevocably 
committed to incurring the costs and the main features of the plans have been announced to affected 
employees. 
 
Pension costs 
We have a defined contribution scheme for the benefit of employees. The assets of the scheme are 

held separately from those of the charity in an independently administered fund. 

 

In addition, a subsidiary undertaking, Hamilton Lodge Trust Limited (“HL”) participated in a defined 

benefit pension scheme and the group participates in similar schemes for a small number of other 

employees. With the exception of the HL scheme, although the funds are defined benefit schemes, 

because the group as a Small Admission Body, is grouped together with other similar employers, it is 

not possible to separately identify the group's share of the underlying assets and liabilities and they are 

therefore accounted for as defined contribution schemes; however, where agreement has been reached 

for the group to pay off their share of the deficit arising under such schemes, full provision is made for 

the present day value of the deficit. 

 

HL participated in a defined benefit pension scheme operated by Essex County Council. The 

contributions were determined by Barnett Waddingham, independent qualified actuaries, on the basis 

of triennial valuations. Whilst HL is a small admission body (“SAB”), Essex County Council decided that 

all employees within the SAB group will be established on a standalone basis for the purpose of actuarial 

valuations and that future assessments of employer contributions will be on an individual employer basis 

and not on a grouped basis. This had resulted in HL being required to account for this scheme as a 

defined benefit scheme. During the year, the Trustees make a decision to buy-out the scheme deficits. 

This was finalised further to an exit valuation prepared by Barnett Waddington and HL paid an amount 

of £532,000 towards the scheme deficits. 
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Principal accounting policies (continued) 
 
Foreign currency 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences are included in the consolidated statement 
of financial activities for the period in which they are incurred.  
 
Fund accounting 
We have various types of funds for which we are responsible, and which require separate disclosure. 
These are as follows: 
 
- Restricted income funds 

Donations or legacies are earmarked by the donor for specific purposes. From these funds, the 
donation and income deriving therefrom may be utilised in accordance with the specific purposes. 
 

- Unrestricted funds 
- Designated funds 

We may at our discretion set aside funds for specific purposes which would otherwise form part 
of the general funds of the organisation. Specifically, the charity sets aside funds for the 
following:  

- The amount which represents the investment made in intangible and tangible fixed 
assets for use by the charity.  

- Sums for use by The DT Foundation which is a fund that has been set up to enable the 
charity to support and work with new and existing initiatives which would otherwise 
struggle to attract mainstream or traditional funding. 
 

- General funds 
Funds are expendable in furtherance of the objects of the charity. 

 
 

2. Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 

In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees have made the following judgements: 
 
Leases 
The classification of leases entered into by the group either as a lessor or a lessee as operating leases 

or finance leases.  These decisions depend on an assessment of whether the risks and rewards of 

ownership have been transferred from the lessor to the lessee on a lease by lease basis. 

 

Impairment 

The determination of whether there are any indicators of impairment applicable to the group's tangible 

assets.  Factors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include the economic viability and 

expected future financial performance of the asset and where it is a component of a larger cash-

generating service, the viability and expected future performance of that service. 

 

Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets, other than investment properties, are depreciated over their useful lives taking 

into account residual values, where appropriate.  The actual lives of the assets and residual values are 

assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of factors.  In re-assessing asset lives, factors 

such as technological innovation, product life cycles and maintenance programmes are taken into 

account.  Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, the remaining 

life of the asset and projected disposal values. 
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Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 
Investment properties 
The valuation of investment properties at the relevant dates is determined by applying average price 
indices for commercial properties to the valuations determined by professional valuations. These values 
are then adjusted to make due allowance for the condition of the properties. 
 
Pension exit valuations 
The pension exit valuations used in tehse financial statements are provided by Barnett Waddington. 
 
Dilapidation provisions 
Dilapidation provisions have been provided in these financial statements reflecting the group’s estimate 
of repair costs which will need to be undertaken when returning leased properties back to their original 
state. The provisions are based on the average provision required for each property leased. 
 
Participation awards 
The participation award amounts are the management’s estimate of the expected disbursements made 
to staff. 
 
 

3. Donations and legacies 
 

Group 

 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2018 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       

Legacies - 22 22 - 55 55 

Grants - 123 123 - 243 243 

Other donations and gifts 13 89 102 - 209 109 

 13 234 247 - 507 507 

 
Charity 

 
Unrestricted 

 Funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2018 
Unrestricted 

 Funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       

Donation from BIRT - - - - 357 357 

Legacies - 7 7 - 55 55 

Grants - 55 55 - 243 243 

Other donations and gifts 13 57 70 - 100 100 

 13 119 132 - 755 755 

 
The payment from BIRT of £nil (2017: £357,000) is a payment from a subsidiary undertaking towards brain injury 
capital projects. 
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4. Income from charitable activities 
Improving the lives of people with disabilities 
 
Group 

 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2018 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       
Fee income:       
Physical disabilities 6,327 - 6,327 5,998 - 5,998 
Autism 8,670 279 8,949 7,920 2,053 9,973 
Brain injury 12,876 12,956 25,832 - 27,144 27,144 
Education 3,044 - 3,044 2,743 71 2,814 
Community services 7,679 - 7,679 8,275 - 8,275 
Learning disability - 67 67 - 598 598 
Other 1 - 1 - 70 70 
       
Ancillary services to 
joint ventures: 
Management charges 
to joint ventures 321 - 321 359 - 359 

 38,918 13,302 52,220 25,295 29,936 55,231 

 
Charity 

 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2018 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

Fee income:       
Physical disabilities 6,327 - 6,327 5,998 - 5,998 
Autism 8,670 - 8,670 7,920 - 7,920 
Education 3,044 - 3,044 2,815 - 2,815 
Community services 7,679 - 7,679 8,275 - 8,275 
Brain Injury 12,877 - 12,877 - - - 
The DT Foundation - - - - - - 
       
Management charges 
to subsidiaries and joint 
ventures 1,110 - 1,110 1,924 - 1,924 

 39,707 - 39,707 26,932 - 26,932 

 
 
 

5. Investment income 
 

Group 

 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2018 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       
Bank deposit interest 
receivable 20 2 22 40 16 56 
Dividend income from listed 
investments 833 - 833 815 - 815 

 853 2 855 855 16 871 
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Investment income (continued) 

 
Charity 

 
Unrestricted 

 Funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2018 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       
Bank deposit interest 
receivable 20 - 20 34 - 34 
Dividend income from listed 
investments 833 - 833 815 - 815 
Rents from investment 
properties 1,112 - 1,112 2,307 - 2,307 

 1,965 - 1,965 3,156 - 3,156 

 
 

6. Other income 
 
Other income 
 
Group 

 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2018 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       

Other income 399 106 505 69 15 84 

 
Charity 

 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2018 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       

Other income 397 - 397 - 68 68 

       

 397 - 397 - 68 68 

 
 

7. Expenditure on raising funds 
 

Group 

 
Unrestricted 

 Funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2018 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       

Fundraising costs 52 - 52 41 14 55 
Investment management 
costs 83 - 83 82 - 82 

 135 - 135 123 14 137 
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Expenditure on raising funds (continued) 

 
Charity 

 
Unrestricted 

 Funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2018 
Unrestricted 

 funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
Total funds 

2017 

 £ £  £ £ £  £ 

       

Fundraising costs 52 - 52 40 - 40 
Investment management 
costs 83 - 83 83 - 83 

 135 - 135 123 - 123 

 
 

8. Charitable activities 
 

(i) Group 
 
Improving the lives of people with disabilities  
 
Unrestricted funds 

 

Activities 
undertaken 

 Directly 
Support 

 costs 
Total funds 

2018 

Activities 
undertaken 

 directly 
Support 

 costs 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       

Physical disabilities 5,580 1,162 6,742 5,253 1,358 6,611 

Autism 7,300 1,776 9,076 7,158 2,274 9,432 

Brain injury 12,226 2,644 14,870 - 235 235 

Education 1,911 259 2,170 1,785 373 2,158 

Community services 6,862 1,233 8,095 7,419 1,846 9,265 

The DT Foundation 214 24 238 256 65 321 

 34,093 7,098 41,191 21,871 6,151 28,022 

 

Restricted funds 

 

Activities 
undertaken 

 directly 
Support 

 Costs 
Total funds 

2018 

Activities 
undertaken 

 directly 
Support 

 Costs 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       

Physical disabilities - - - 31 - 31 

Autism 422 - 422 1,747 241 1,988 

Brain injury 9,825 2,598 12,423 23,143 2,089 25,232 

Education - - - 7 - 7 

Community services - - - 42 1 43 

The DT Foundation - - - 1 - 1 

Learning disability 443 - 443 646 50 696 

       

 10,690 2,598 13,288 25,617 2,381 27,998 

 

Total charitable activities 44,783 9,696 54,479 47,488 8,532 56,020 
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Charitable activities (continued) 
 
2018 Support costs allocation 

 
Physical 

disabilities 
Autism 

 
Education 

 
Community 

Services 
Brain 

 injury 
Learning 
disability 

The DT 
Foundation 

Total 
2018 

Basis of 
allocation 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000  £’000  

Central support costs          

Staff and training 563 1,030 150 597 2,585 - 11 4,936 Staff nos. 
Other 588 734 107 624 2,613 - 12 4,678 Staff nos. 
Governance 11 12 2 12 45 - - 82 Staff nos. 

 1,162 1,776 259 1,233 5,243 - 23 9,696  

 
2017 Support costs allocation 

 
Physical 

disabilities 
Autism 

 
Education 

 
Community 

Services 
Brain 

 injury 
Learning 
disability 

The DT 
Foundation 

Total 
2017 

Basis of 
allocation 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000  £’000  

Central support costs          

Staff and training 787 1,390 229 1,070 1,566 - 37 5,079 Staff nos. 
Other 552 1,084 139 750 729 49 26 3,329 Staff nos. 
Governance 20 39 5 27 30 2 1 124 Staff nos. 

 1,359 2,513 373 1,847 2,325 51 64 8,532  

 
The allocation of support costs has been made on the basis of the Trustees' best estimate of time spent on 
supporting each activity during the year. The group prepares individual budgets and management accounts for 
each accommodation unit and costs are directly attributed during the year; the amounts included above for "unit 
costs" are the support costs allocation of these directly attributable costs. 
 
The central support costs are the costs borne by the charity for central office services including quality control, 
business development, communications, management accounting, payroll administration, budgeting, information 
technology, human resources and learning & development. 
 
 
 

 (ii) Charity 
 
Improving the lives of people with disabilities  
 
Unrestricted funds 

 

Activities 
undertaken 

 directly 
Support 

 costs 
Total funds 

2018 

Activities 
undertaken 

 directly 
Support 

 costs 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       

Physical disabilities 5,580 1,162 6,742 5,253 1,358 6,611 

Autism 7,300 1,776 9,076 6,766 2,274 9,040 

Education 1,911 259 2,170 1,785 373 2,158 

Community services 6,862 1,233 8,095 7,428 1,846 9,274 

Brain injury and learning 
disability 10,821 4,817 15,638 - 1,638 1,638 

The DT Foundation 214 24 238 256 65 321 

Provision for loans to 
subsidiaries             8(iii) 

 
2,313 

 
- 

 
2,313 

 
418 

 
- 

 
418 

 35,001 9,271 44,272 21,906 7,554 29,460 
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Charitable activities (continued) 
 
Restricted funds 

 

Activities 
undertaken 

 Directly 
Support 

 costs 
Total funds 

2018 

Activities 
undertaken 

 directly 
Support 

 costs 
Total funds 

2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       
Physical disabilities - - - 31 - 31 

Autism - - - 42 1 43 

Education - - - 7 - 7 

Community services - - - 42 1 43 

Brain injury and learning 
disability - - - 1 - 1 
The DT Foundation - - - - - - 

 - - - 123 2 125 

 
Total charitable 
activities 35,001 9,271 44,272 22,029 7,556 29,585 

 
The amount shown for brain injury and learning disability relates to the management charges rendered to the 
subsidiaries and the joint ventures. 
 
2018 Support costs allocation 

 

 
 

Physical 
 disabilities Autism Education 

 
 
 

Community 
services 

Brain 
 Injury & 
learning 

disability 

 
 
 

The DT 
Foundation 

Total 
2018 

Basis of 
allocation 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  
Central support costs         
Staff and training 563 1,030 150 597 2,335 11 4,686 Staff nos. 
Other 588 734 107 624 2,438 12 4,503 Staff nos. 
Governance 11 12 2 12 45 - 82 Staff nos. 

 1,162 1,776 259 1,233 4,818 23 9,271  

 
2017 Support costs allocation 

 

 
 

Physical 
 disabilities Autism Education 

 
 
 

Community 
services 

Brain 
 Injury & 
learning 

disability 

 
 
 

The DT 
Foundation 

Total 
2017 

Basis of 
allocation 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  
Central support costs         
Staff and training 787 1,391 229 1,071 949 37 4,464 Staff nos. 
Other 552 856 139 750 665 26 2,988 Staff nos. 
Governance 20 28 5 26 24 1 104 Staff nos. 

 1,359 2,275 373 1,847 1,638 64 7,556  

 
The allocation of support costs has been made on the basis of the Trustees' best estimate of time spent on 
supporting each activity during the year. Central support costs are the costs borne by the charity for central office 
services including quality control, business development, communications, management accounting, payroll 
administration, budgeting, information technology, human resources and learning & development. 
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Charitable activities (continued) 
 
 (iii) Provision for loans & investments in joint venture and subsidiaries 
 
Charity 

 

Hamilton 
Lodge Trust 

 Limited 

Rehabilitation 
Australia 

Limited 
Total 
2018 

Hamilton 
Lodge Trust 

 Limited 

Rehabilitation 
Australia 

Limited 
Total 
2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 

       

Brought forward 1,918 1,554 3,472 1,500 1,154 2,654 

Difference on exchange - (78) (78) - 400 400 

Increase/(reduction) in 
provision 

 
977 

 
- 

 
977 

 
418 

 
- 

 
418 

Carried forward 2,895 1,476 4,372 1,918 1,554 3,472 

 
 
The Trustees have considered the on-going value of Hamilton Lodge Trust Limited, and believe that an additional 
provision of £977,000 is required (2017: £418,000) to reflect the change in recoverability of the charity’s loan and 
investment. In addition, the charity’s investment in BIRT of £1,336,000 has been written-off as a result of the 
transfer of its trade and assets to DT. 
 
 

9.  Gains/losses on investment assets 
 

 Group Group Charity Charity 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 

Surplus on revaluation of listed investments 381 3,101 381 3,101 

Realised (loss)/gain on disposal of listed 
investments (63) 111 (63) 111 

 318 3,212 318 3,212 

 
10. Staff number and costs 

 
Staff costs during the year were as follows: 

 Group Group Charity Charity 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 

     

Wages and salaries 33,445 33,512 24,226 17,197 

Social security costs 2,899 2,690 2,118 1,409 

Cost of defined benefit pension schemes 541 77 72 32 

Cost of defined contribution pension schemes 1,345 1,402 953 710 

Other employee benefits 255 249 234 200 

 38,485 37,930 27,603 19,548 

Payments made to independent third parties 
for the provision of staff 5,365 6,046 3,671 2,513 

Total payroll and staff related costs 43,850 43,976 31,274 22,061 

 
The costs of an additional 168 (2017: 199) care staff and 11 (2017: 12) administrative staff are recharged to the 
joint ventures for which their services are exclusively used. 
 
Payments made to independent third parties for the provision of staff relate to costs incurred as a result of staff 
vacancies and cover being required pending recruitment. They also include costs arising as a result of cover being 
required during sickness or holiday. 
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Staff numbers and costs (continued) 
 
Wages and salaries shown above include the following which have been fully provided in the accounts and fully 
funded by the group: 
 

 Group Group Charity Charity 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Redundancy costs & termination payments 506 245 265 167 

 
The average number of persons engaged in the provision of welfare services to residents of the group and the 
charity during the year, analysed by category, was as follows. 
 

 Group Group Charity Charity 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 Number Number Number Number 

     

Provision of care 1,539 1,610 1,495 752 

Communications 8 10 8 10 

Administration 172 193 169 134 

 1,719 1,813 1,672 896 

 
 
The number of employees paid over £60,000 (excluding pension contributions) during the year was as 
follows: 

 Group Group Charity Charity 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 Number Number Number Number 

     

£60,001 to £70,000 6 7 5 4 

£70,001 to £80,000 8 7 5 3 

£80,001 to £90,000 1 1 1 2 

£90,001 to £100,000 - 2 - 2 

£100,001 to £110,000 - 1 - 1 
£110,001 to £120,000 2 - 2 - 
£120,001 to £130,000 1 1 - - 
£190,001 to £200,000 1 1 1 - 
         
 
The Trustees consider that, along with themselves, members of the Senior Management Team (as detailed in the 
Trustees’ Report) are the group’s and the charity’s key management personnel. The total amount of employee 
benefits paid to members of the Senior Management Team in respect of their services to DT (including 
remuneration, employer’s pension contributions and other benefits) was £1,089,000 (2017: £1,013,000) for the 
group. 
 
 

11. Remuneration of Trustees 
 

No trustee received any form of remuneration during the year (2017: £nil). 
Travel expenses incurred in the course of attending the charity’s affairs and amounting to £11,442 (2017: £9,657) 
for the group and the charity were reimbursed to 7 Trustees during the year (2017: 11). 
Costs of Trustees' meetings amounted to £10,572 in the year (2017: £10,449). 
The Trustees have used funds of the charity to purchase indemnity insurance at a cost of £1,921 (2017: £3,443). 
The total amount of donations received without conditions from Trustees or related parties were £nil (2017: £nil). 
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12. Net income before gains on investments 
 

 Group Group Charity Charity 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

The net incoming resources for the year is 
stated after charging/(crediting)     
Auditors' remuneration for statutory audit 
services     

- parent 57 82 57 82 
- subsidiaries  3 50 - - 

Auditors' remuneration for taxation services 49 24 47 22 

Depreciation and other amounts written off 
tangible fixed assets 1,799 2,019 1,234 984 

Depreciation and other amounts written off 
intangible fixed assets 511 182 511 182 

Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets 50 289 26 266 
Hire of other assets - operating leases 1,053 953 797 1,979 

Profit on sale of tangible fixed assets (27) (62) (24) (46) 

 

 
13. Tax 

 
The company is registered as a charity and its income is applied solely for charitable purposes. As a result, it is 
entitled to rely upon the relevant taxation exemptions and reliefs as set out in the Corporation Taxes Act 2010. 
Any profit generated by York House Ventures Limited (YHV), the joint venture company, is paid to the joint venture 
parties under the Gift Aid Scheme, following the year-end and is subject to corporation tax until then.  As a result, 
the income from joint ventures of the group for the year includes the impact of tax charged on the results for YHV 
for the year. 
 
 

14. Intangible fixed assets 
 

 Group Charity 

 
Computer 

software 
Computer 

software 
 £’000 £’000 
Cost   
At 1 June 2017  3,002 2,983 
Assets acquired on BIRT merger - 19 

Additions  
 

263 263 

At 31 May 2018 3,265 3,265 

 
Depreciation  
  

 

At 1 June 2017 630 611 
Assets acquired on BIRT merger - 19 
Charge for year 511 511 

At 31 May 2018 1,141 1,141 

 
Net book value   

At 31 May 2018 2,124 2,124 

 
Net book value   

At 31 May 2017 2,372 2,372 
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15. Tangible fixed assets 
 
Group 

 

 
Land and 

 buildings 
Motor 

 vehicles 

Fixtures 
and 

 fittings Computers 

Assets 
under 

construction Total 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost       
At 1 June 2017 63,800 971 7,533 1,031 2,416 75,751 
Additions 405 8 263 526 - 1,202 
Disposals (1,646) (242) (370) (50) - (2,308) 

Construction complete 2,416 - - - (2,416) - 

At 31 May 2018 64,975 737 7,426 1,507 - 74,645 

       
Depreciation       
At 1 June 2017 12,409 874 5,672 927 - 19,882 
Provided in the year 1,077 32 573 117 - 1,799 
Impairment 481 - - - - 481 

Disposals (178) (221) (328) (50) - (777) 

At 31 May 2018 13,789 685 5,917 994 - 21,385 

       
Net book value at  
31 May 2018 51,186 52 1,509 513 - 53,260 

       
Net book value at  
31 May 2017 51,391 97 1,861 104 2,416 55,869 

 

 
All tangible fixed assets are utilised for the group's charitable purposes. 
 
Land and buildings at 31 May 2018 comprises the following: 
 
 

 Cost Depreciation 
Net book 

value 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 
    
Freehold 64,753 13,736 51,017 

Short leasehold 222 53 169 

Total 64,975 13,789 51,186 
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Fixed assets (continued) 
 
 
Charity 

 

 
Land and 

 buildings 

 
Investm-

ent 
Property 

Motor 
 vehicles 

Fixtures 
and 

 fittings Computers 

Assets 
under 

construction Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Cost or valuation        
At 1 June 2017 25,686 34,680 595 3,599 704 2,416 67,680 
Assets acquired on BIRT merger - - 277 3,561 285 - 4,123 
Additions 406 - 8 212 525 - 1,151 
Disposals (1,645) - (151) (210) (27) - (2,033) 
Construction complete 2,416 - - - - (2,416) - 

Transfer 34,680 (34,680) - - - - - 

At 31 May 2018 61,543 - 729 7,162 1,487 - 70,921 

        
Depreciation        
At 1 June 2017 6,400 - 551 2,729 626 - 10,306 
Assets acquired on BIRT merger - - 250 2,729 275 - 3,254 
Provided in the year 694 - 21 414 106 - 1,235 
Impairment 481 - - - - - 481 

Disposals (178) - (145) (195) (27) - (545) 

At 31 May 2018 7,397 - 677 5,677 980 - 14,731 

        

Net book value at 31 May 2018 54,146 - 52 1,485 507 - 56,190 

        

        

Net book value at 31 May 2017 19,286 34,680 44 870 78 2,416 57,374 

        

 
All tangible fixed assets are utilised for the charity's charitable purposes. 
 
Investment properties 
The charity’s investment properties were professionally valued in January 2016 by Dunlop Heywood, professional 
property services at fair value on an existing use basis. The valuations were undertaken in accordance with UK 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in compliance with the regulations laid down by the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors under the “RICS Valuation Professional Standards UK” revised April 2015. 
Details of the assumptions made and the key sources of estimation uncertainty are given in note 2.  
 
The Investment properties were previously used by BIRT which merged with the charity on 30 November 2017 

and BIRT continue to utilise these properties after the merger. Hence, they are not treated as Investment 

Properties at the end of this financial year. The value of the Investment properties were £34,680,000 at the end of 

the last financial year and at the date of the merger. They were transferred at book cost which had previously been 

at market value. All tangible assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairments. The Trustees' 

view is that the UK property market has not moved significantly and that any adjustments required would be 

insignificant to the group. No external revaluation was commissioned.
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Tangible fixed assets (continued) 

 
Land and buildings 
Land and buildings at 31 May 2018 comprises the following: 
 

 Cost Depreciation 
Net book 

amount 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 
    
Freehold 61,321 7,344 53,977 

Short leasehold 222 53 169 

Total 61,543 7,397 54,146 

 
 

16. Fixed asset investments 
 

Group 

 
Listed 

 securities 
Cash on 
 deposit Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 

    
Market value at 1 June 2017 24,618 483 25,101 

Disposals (at cost) (1,313) - (1,313) 

Additions 1,141 - 1,141 

Movement in cash held as part of investment portfolio - 124 124 
Net surplus on revaluation 297 - 297 

Market value at 31 May 2018 24,743 607 25,350 

    

Historic cost at 31 May 2018 18,775 607 19,382 

    

Historic cost at 31 May 2017 18,652 483 19,135 

 
Realised gains on investments amounted to £115,000 (2017: £111,000). 
 
Charity                      2018          2017 
 
 Total  Total 
 £’000  £’000 
    
Market value of investments at 31 May (as above) 25,350  25,101 
    
Investment in subsidiaries    
Deemed cost at 1 June 2,159  2,159 
Write-off of Investment in BIRT (1,336)  - 
    

Deemed cost at 31 May 823  2,159 

At 31 May 2018 26,173  27,260 
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Fixed asset investments (continued) 
 
Investment portfolio 
An amount of £13,470,000 (2017: £13,190,000) is invested with Rathbone Investment Management Limited 
and £11,880,000 (2017: £11,912,000) is invested with Sarasin & Partners LLP. 
 

 Group Group Charity Charity 
 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Market value     

United Kingdom listed securities 21,035 20,705 21,035 20,705 

Non-United Kingdom listed securities 3,707 3,912 3,707 3,912 

Cash 608 484 608 484 

 25,350 25,101 25,350 25,101 

 
The geographical spread of the portfolio is as follows: 
 

 

% of 
 Market 
 Value 

% of 
 Market 

 value 
 2018 2017 
   
United Kingdom 65 84 
European Union (All Europe) 8 2 
North America 15 6 
Pacific 6 4 
Emerging markets including Latin America 2 2 
Global 4 2 

 100 100 

 
Subsidiaries 
The charity's subsidiaries at 31 May 2018, all of which are directly controlled by the charity were as follows: 
 
       Principal activity 
Hamilton Lodge Trust Limited ('HL') Services to people with learning disability & autism (not 

operating) 
Brain Injury Rehabilitation Care Centres Limited 
 ('BIRCC')      Dormant 
Rehabilitation Australia Limited    Brain Injury Rehabilitation (not operating) 

 
On 30 November 2017, the charity merged with Brain Injury Rehabilitation Trust (BIRT) (Company 
registration number: 2863860; Charity registration number: 800797-1 (England & Wales) and SCO43579 
(Scotland)), a 100% subsidiary, whose activities are the provision of services to people with acquired brain 
injury. Further details are under note 31. 
 
At 31 May 2018 the charity had a 100% interest in Hamilton Lodge Trust Limited through which the charity 
provides services to people with learning disabilities and autism. Hamilton Lodge Trust Limited ceased 
trading on 31 August 2017. 
 
Brain Injury Rehabilitation Trust: 
 
Company registration number – 2863860 (England & Wales) 
Charity registration numbers – 800797-1 (England & Wales) and SCO43579 (Scotland) 
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Fixed asset investments (continued) 
 
Hamilton Lodge Trust Limited 

Company registration number – 489657 (England & Wales) 
 Charity registration numbers – 306080 (England & Wales)  
 
Income and expenditure account for the year ended 31 May 2018 

 2018 2017 

 £’000 £’000 

Total income 349 2,651 

Total expenditure  (865) (3,193) 

Actuarial (loss)/gain on defined benefit pension (427) 161 

Net movements in funds (943) (381) 

 
Hamilton Lodge Trust Limited 
Balance sheet as at 31 May 2018 

   

   

 2018 2017 

 £’000 £’000 

Fixed assets 2,372 2,483 

Net current liabilities (4,442) (3,505) 

Defined benefit pension scheme liability - (105) 

Net liabilities (2,070) (1,127) 

   

Total charity funds (2,070) (1,127) 

 
 
At 31 May 2018 the charity had a 100% interest in Rehabilitation Australia Limited through which the charity 
provides services to people with acquired brain injury (not operating). 
 
Rehabilitation Australia Limited 

Company registration number – ACN: 133 041 773 (Australia) 
 Charity registration numbers – ABN: 78 133 041 773 (Australia)  
 
Income and expenditure account for the year ended 31 May 2018 

 2018 2017 

 £’000 £’000 

Total incoming resources - 7 

Total resources expended - - 

Exchange translation difference arising on consolidation - - 

Provision against loan to former joint venture - - 

Net movements in funds - 7 

 
Rehabilitation Australia Limited 
Balance sheet as at 31 May 2018 

 2018 2017 

 £’000 £’000 

Net current liabilities (1,504) (1,557) 

Net liabilities (1,504) (1,557) 

   

Total funds (1,504) (1,557) 
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Fixed asset investments (continued) 
 
Joint ventures 
 
At 31 May 2018 the charity had a 50% interest in the share capital of York House Ventures Limited which provides 
a rehabilitation centre for people with brain injuries together with ongoing care facilities. 
 
York House Ventures Limited 
Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 May 2018 
 

 2018  2017 

  
Group's 

 share  
Group's 

 share 

 Total (50%) Total (50%) 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Turnover 5,814 2,907 6,541 3,271 
Cost of sales (5,337) (2,668) (5,608) (2,789) 

Administrative expenses (376) (188) (397) (199) 

Net interest receivable 1 - - - 

Profit before tax 102 51 536 268 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities (20) (10) (113) (57) 

Share of profit 82 41  422 211 

     
 
York House Ventures Limited 
Balance sheet as at 31 May 2018 
 2018 2017 

  
Group's 

 Share  
Group's 
 Share 

 Total (50%) Total (50%) 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Fixed assets 121 61 121 61 
Current assets 930 465 1,170 585 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (969) (485) (866) (433) 
Provisions for liabilities - - (3) (2) 

Net assets 82 41 422 211 

 
York House Ventures Limited had:     

Capital commitments - - 60 30 

Annual commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases - - 55 28 

 
The charity was an equal joint venture party with Northern Lincolnshire and Goole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, 
(NLaG), in Goole Neuro-Rehabilitation Centre (GNRC) which provides a post acute brain injury rehabilitation 
centre in Goole. The activities of GNRC was transferred to NLaG from 1 September 2017. The group results on 
the Statement of Financial Activities include those of GNRC for the three months to 31 August 2017. 
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Fixed asset investments (continued) 
 
Goole Neuro-Rehabilitation Centre 
Unaudited management accounts for the year ended 31 May 2018 
 
 2018 2017 

  
Group's 

 share  
Group's 

 share 
 Total (50%) Total (50%) 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

     
Total incoming resources 533 267 2,129 1,065 
Total resources expended (425) (213) (1,752) (876) 

Net movements in funds 108 54 377 189 

 
Goole Neuro-Rehabilitation Centre 
Unaudited balance sheet as at 31 May 2018 
 
 2018 2017 

  
Group's 

 Share  
Group's 
 Share 

 Total (50%) Total (50%) 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

     
Fixed assets 74 37 84 42 
Current assets 525 263 523 262 
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (453) (227)               (607) (304) 
Provisions for liabilities (38) (19) - - 

Net assets 108 54 - - 

 
Goole Neuro-Rehabilitation Centre had:     

Capital commitments - - - - 

Annual commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases - - - - 

 
 

17. Stocks 
 Group Group Charity Charity 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £ £ £ £ 

     

Raw materials and consumables 14 36 14 18 

 
 

18. Debtors 
 Group Group Charity Charity 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Falling due within one year     

Trade debtors 5,411 6,290 5,411 2,120 

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 1,540 1,604 

Amounts owed by joint ventures 665 311 265 269 

Other debtors 177 135 177 95 

Prepayments and accrued income 1,207 1,863 1,200 1,279 

 7,460 8,599 8,593 5,367 

 
Included within the amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings is £1,402,000 (2017: £1,402,000) which is 
repayable on demand with no interest. 
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19. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

 Group Group Charity Charity 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

     

Trade creditors 594 1,473 594 1,260 

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 20 3,959 

Taxation and social security 732 774 730 757 

Accruals and deferred income 5,525 5,379 5,483 3,511 

Other creditors 741 550 737 381 

 7,592 8,176 7,564 9,868 

 
 
Accruals and deferred income includes deferred income as follows: 
 

 Group Group Charity Charity 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

     

Fees received for care to be provided after 31 
May 2018 1,535 1,174 1,534 872 

Received in advance for the September 2017 
BIRT conference - 33 - - 

Other - 9 - - 

 1,535 1,216 1,535 872 

 
The deferred income at 31 May 2017 has been credited to the 2018 Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
Accruals and other creditors include pension contributions of £172,000 (2017: £178,000) for the group and 
£172,000 (2017: £170,000) for the charity. 
 

20. Provisions for liabilities 
 
Group 

 

 
 
 

Total 

Stakeholder 
participation 

award scheme 
Dilapidations 

provision 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 

At 1 June 2017 511 167 344 

Amounts provided for in the year 156 46 110 

Amounts released in the year (310) (126) (184) 

At 31 May 2018 357 87 270 

 
Charity 

 

 
 
 

Total 

Stakeholder 
participation 

award scheme 
Dilapidations 

provision 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 

At 1 June 2017 366 132 234 

Amounts provided for in the year 156 46 110 

Amounts released in the year (165) (91) (74) 

At 31 May 2018 357 87 270 
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Discretionary deferred stakeholder participation award scheme 
 
The provisions for the discretionary deferred stakeholder participation award scheme are to aid the retention of 
skilled staff. Payment will be subject to certain conditions including the staff concerned still being employed by the 
charity at the payment dates which are as follows: 
 

 Group Group Charity Charity 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

May 2018 - 88 - 66 

May 2019 41 79 41 66 

May 2020 46 - 46 - 

 87 167 87 132 

 
Dilapidations provision 
The dilapidations provision is recognised on a lease by lease basis and is based on the group’s best estimate of 
the likely committed cash flow. 
 

21. Restricted income funds 
 

Group 
  Movement in resources   

 

Balance at 
 1 June 

2017 Incoming Outgoing 

Transfers 
 unrestricted 

 funds (note 22) 
Balance at 

31 May 2018 
 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
Unrestricted funds in BIRT and HL treated 
as restricted in the group      
Brain injury (BIRT) 9,564 13,061 (12,403) (2,349) 7,873 
Learning disability & Autism (HL) - 349 (857) 508 - 
Sundry (HL) 15 - (8) - 7 
      
On merger with BIRT      
Restricted legacies (On merger with BIRT) 38 15 - - 53 
Sundry (On merger with BIRT) 185 32 (20) - 197 
Grant (On merger with BIRT) 7 68 - - 75 
      
Other      
Restricted legacies - 7 - - 7 
Barrow Cadbury Trust grant 68 22 - (73) 17 
Skills For Care grant 20 17 - (37) - 
Other grants 373 16 - - 389 
ConnectAbility appeals 174 16 (20) (22) 148 
Sundry 374 41 (83) (37) 295 

Total group restricted funds 10,818 13,644 (13,391) (2,010) 9,061 

 
The unrestricted funds of the subsidiary charity, Hamilton Lodge, are regarded as restricted in the group financial statements. 
 

Charity  Movement in resources   

 

Balance at 
1 June 

2017 Incoming Outgoing 

Transfers 
 unrestricted 

 funds (note 22) 

Balance at 
 31 May 

2018 
 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 
      
Donated net assets from BIRT - 9,307 - (1,236) 8,071 
Restricted legacies - 7 - - 7 

Sundry 399 267 (83) (25) 558 
Barrow Cadbury Trust grant 69 22 - (73) 18 
Skills For Care grant 20 17 - (37) - 
ConnectAbility appeals 174 16 (20) (22) 148 
Other grants 374 214 - (338) 250 

Total charity restricted funds 1,036 9,850 (103) (1,731) 9,052 
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22. Unrestricted funds 
 

Group       

 

Balance at 
 1 June 

2017 
Incoming 

 resources 
Outgoing 

 resources 

Transfers 
restricted 

 funds    
(note 21) 

Other 
transfers 

Balance at 
 31 May 

2018 
Revaluation reserve £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Net surplus/(deficit) on revaluation 6,321 297 - - (295) 6,323 

       
Designated funds       
Investment in tangible fixed assets 54,772 - - - (2,630) 52,142 
The DT Foundation (9) - (238) - - (247) 

Total designated funds 54,763 - (238) - (2,630) 51,895 

       

General funds 21,952 40,299 (41,515) 2,010 2,812 25,557 

       

Pension reserve (300) - - - 113 (187) 

       

Total unrestricted funds 82,736 40,596 (41,753) 2,010 - 83,588 

 
Charity 

 

Balance at 
 1 June 

2017 
Incoming 

 resources 
Outgoing 

 resources 

 Transfers 
restricted 

 funds    
(note 21) 

Other 
transfers 

Balance at 
 31 May 

2018 

Revaluation reserve £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Net surplus/(deficit) on revaluation 9,311 297 - - (3,285) 6,323 

       

Designated funds       

Investment in tangible fixed assets 56,757 - - - 687 57,444 
The DT Foundation (9) - (238) - - (247) 

 56,748  (238)  687 57,197 

       
General funds 
Surplus for the year 22,794 42,103 (44,169) 1,731 2,588 25,047 

Pension reserve (197) - - - 10 (187) 

Total unrestricted funds 88,656 42,400 (44,407) 1,731 - 88,380 

 
The purpose of the designated funds is explained in the accounting policies. 
   
The transfers shown above are as follows: Group Charity 
 £’000 £’000 
   
   
Transfers from restricted to unrestricted funds for the purchase of fixed assets 
where the assets have been bought and therefore the restriction has been fully 
executed 1,236 1,236 
   
Deficit on Hamilton Lodge restricted funds transferred to unrestricted funds 508 - 
   
Transfers relating to rents and other charges by DT to BIRT which are 
eliminated on consolidation but restated by way of transfer 1,112 - 
   
Transfers (from)/to general funds (to)/from designated funds (2,630) 687 
   
Transfers from revaluation reserve to unrestricted funds on the sale of 
investments 295 3,285 
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23. Analysis of net assets between funds 
 
Group 

 

Intangible 
 fixed 

assets 

 Tangible 
 fixed 

assets 

 Fixed 
 assets 

investments 

Net 
current 

 assets 

Provisions 
for 

 liabilities 

Pension 
scheme 
liability Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
        
Restricted - 2,372 - 6,842 (152) - 9,062 
Unrestricted - - - - - -  

  Revaluation reserve - - 6,323 - - - 6,323 
  Designated funds 2,124 50,888 - (1,117) - - 51,895 
  Pension reserve - - - - - (187) (187) 
  General funds - - 19,122 6,640 (205) - 25,557 

 2,124 53,260 25,444 12,365  (357) (187) 92,650 

 
 
Charity 

 

    
Intangible 

 fixed 
assets 

    Tangible 
 fixed 

assets 

Fixed  
assets  

investments 

Net 
current 
 assets 

Provisions 
for 

 liabilities 

Pension 
scheme 
liability Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
        
Restricted - 870 - 8,334 (152) - 9,052 
Unrestricted        
  Revaluation reserve - - 6,323 - - - 6,323 
  Designated funds 2,124 55,320 - (247) - - 57,197 
  Pension reserve  - - - - - (187) (187) 
  General funds - - 19,850 5,402 (205) - 25,047 

 2,124 56,190 26,173 13,489 (357) (187) 97,432 

 
 
 

24. Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating activities 
 

 2018 2017 
 £’000 £’000 
   
Net income for the reporting period as per the statement of financial activities (477) 4,148 
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation charges 1,829 2,201 
Gains on investments (227) (3,212) 
(Profit)/loss on sale of tangible fixed assets (223) 227 
Difference between net pension expense and cash contribution - (1) 
Decrease in stocks 22 89 
Decrease/(increase)  in debtors 1,139 (395) 
(Decrease)/increase in creditors (584) 618 
Decrease in provisions (154) (97) 
Dividends and interest received (855) (871) 
Pension liability reduction included in staff costs 418 (227) 
Share of profit in joint venture (95) (400) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 793 2,080 
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25. Capital commitments 
 
Capital commitments at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made: 
 

 Group Group Charity Charity 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

     

Contracted - - - - 

Authorised but not contracted 120 5,711 120 5,099 

 120 5,711 120 5,099 

 
The capital commitments above are phased up to and including 2018/19 (2017: 2017/18) with £120,000 (2017: 
£5,711,000) falling due within one year for the group and £120,000 (2017: £5,099,000) for the charity. They will 
be financed from existing reserves and future surpluses. 
 

26. Commitments as lessee 
 
The total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases is as follows: 
 
Group 
 2018 2017 
 £’000 £’000 
   
Within one year 723 664 
Between one and five years 752 1,005 
In five years or more 29 224 

 1,504 1,893 

 
Charity 
 2018 2017 
 £’000 £’000 
   
Within one year 723 578 
Between one and five years 752 828 
In more than five years 29 224 
 
 1,504 1,630 

 
 

27. Pension costs 
 
Defined contribution schemes 
The charity makes payments to individual employees' personal pension plans. There is also a defined contribution 
pension scheme for the benefit of employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the 
charity in an independently administered fund. There were no prepaid contributions at either the beginning or the 
end of the financial year. Group contributions amounted to £1,345,000 (2017: £1,402,000) during the year of 
which £172,000 (2017: £178,000) had not been paid at the year end. 
 
Defined benefit schemes 
Group and charity  
Hamilton Lodge Trust Limited (“HL”) participated in a defined benefit pension scheme and the group participates 
in similar schemes for a small number of other employees. With the exception of the HL scheme, although the 
funds are defined benefit schemes, because the group as a Small Admission Body (“SAB”), is grouped together 
with other similar employers, it is not possible to separately identify the group's share of the underlying assets and 
liabilities and they are therefore accounted for as defined contribution schemes. Total group contributions to 
defined benefit pension schemes (excluding the Essex Scheme) in the year amounted to £72,000 (2017: 
£81,000). There were no prepaid or unpaid contributions at either the beginning or the end of the financial year 
for SAB schemes; however, in the case of one of these schemes (Northumberland County Council pension Fund) 
there is a commitment at the beginning and end of the year to contribute to a deficit on the fund and details are 
given below.  
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Pension costs (continued) 
             
DT - Northumberland County Council Pension Fund       
            
DT participates in a defined benefit pension scheme operated by Northumberland County. At 31 May 2018, DT 
was committed to pay £25,100 per annum for a period of 8.5 years from 1 April 2017 based on the actuarial 
valuation carried out as at 31 March 2016. The next actuarial valuation is being carried out as at 31 March 2019 
and the rate and term of the contribution towards the deficit will be reviewed and revised from 1 April 2020. The 
discounted present value of these contributions totalling £187,000 (2017: £197,000) have been provided in the 
accounts of the group and the charity.   
       
        
HL - Essex County Council Pension Fund 
 
HL participated in a defined benefit pension scheme operated by Essex County Council. The contributions were 
determined by Barnett Waddingham, independent qualified actuaries, on the basis of triennial valuations. Whilst 
HL is a small admission body (“SAB”), Essex County Council decided that all employees within the SAB group 
will be established on a standalone basis for the purpose of actuarial valuations and that future assessments 
of employer contributions will be on an individual employer basis and not on a grouped basis. This had resulted 
in HL being required to account for this scheme as a defined benefit scheme. During the year, the Trustees 
make a decision to buy-out the scheme deficits. This was finalised further to an exit valuation prepared by 
Barnett Waddington and HL paid an amount of £532,000 towards the scheme deficits.   
           

28. Funds held as custodian Trustees 
 

At the year end, the group held monies totalling £408,000 (2017: £460,000) on behalf of its clients and the charity 
held monies totalling £408,000 (2017: £72,000). These monies are not included within the balance sheet and are 
held separately in clearly identifiable bank accounts. 
 

29. Transactions with Trustees and other related parties 
 
Group and charity 
 
York House Ventures Limited 
 
During the year, the group received the following payments from York House Ventures Limited (“YHV”), the 
joint venture company: 
 2018 2017 
 £’000 £’000 
The Disabilities Trust   
Staff costs 3,575 4,127 
Management charge 321 259 

Other charges 12 68 

 

 
 2018 2017 
 £’000 £’000 
Brain Injury Rehabilitation Trust   
Staff costs 79 70 

Other charges 37 41 

 
 
At 31 May 2018 the following balances were owed to the group and the charity by YHV: 
 
 2018 2017 
 £’000 £’000 
   
The Disabilities Trust 191 146 

Brain Injury Rehabilitation Trust - 32 
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Transactions with Trustees and other related parties (continued) 
 
 
Goole Neuro-Rehabilitation Centre 
 
During the year, the group received the following payments from Goole Neuro-Rehabilitation Centre ("GNRC"), 
the joint venture partnership. A decision was made by Northern Lincolnshire and Goole Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust (Nlag) to close GNRC with effect from 31 August 2017 and the services of GNRC will continue 
to be provided by Nlag.  
 

 2018 2017 
 £’000 £’000 
The Disabilities Trust   
Staff costs 188 910 
Management charge - 100 

Other charges 12 13 

 
 2018 2017 
 £’000 £’000 
Brain Injury Rehabilitation Trust   
Staff costs 5 22 

Other charges 4 10 

 
At 31 May 2018, the following balances were owed to the group and the charity by GNRC: 
 
 2018 2017 
 £’000 £’000 
   
The Disabilities Trust 74 290 

Brain Injury Rehabilitation Trust - 9 

 
ReNew Neurobehavioural Services 
 
At 31 May 2018, the following balances were owed to the group by ReNew Neurobehavioural Services (“ReNew”), 
the former joint venture partnership which was dissolved in the year ended 31 May 2014. 

  2018 2017 

  £’000 £’000 

    

Rehabilitation Australia Limited  724 749 

Provision for doubtful debt  (724) (749) 

  - - 

 
 
Charity 
 
As the ultimate parent company of a group, the charity has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 102 not 
to disclose transactions with the other wholly-owned members of the group. 
 
There are no other related party transactions. 
 
 



30. Comparative figures for individual funds 
 
 
 

  
 

Discontinuing Operations 
 

Continuing Operations 
   

Income from:  

 
 

Unrestricted 
funds 

 
 

Restricted 
funds 

 
 

Unrestricted 
funds 

 
 

Restricted 
funds 

 
         Total 

Unrestricted 
funds 

 
Total 

Restricted 
 funds 

 
 

    Total funds 
2017 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
         
Donations and legacies  - 1 - 506 - 507 507 
         
Charitable activities:         
Improving the lives of people with disabilities  - 2,650 25,295 27,286 25,295 29,936 55,231 
         
Investment income  -  - 855 16 855 16 871 
         
Share of surplus of joint ventures  - - 400 - 400 - 400 
         
Other income  - - 69 15 69 15 84 

         

Total income  - 2,651 26,619 27,823 26,619 30,474 57,093 

 
Expenditure on:         
Raising funds  - - 123 14 123 14 137 
         
Charitable activities:         
Improving the lives of people with disabilities            - 3,193 28,022 24,805 28,022 27,998 56,020 

         

Total expenditure  - 3,193 28,145 24,819 28,145 28,012 56,157 

         

Net income before gains on investments  - (542) (1,526) 3,004 (1,526) 2,462 936 
         
Gains on investment assets  - - 3,212 - 3,212 - 3,212 

         

Net (expenditure)/income  - (542) 1,686 3,004 1,686 2,462 4,148 
         
Transfers between funds  - - 2,148 (2,148) 2,148 (2,148) - 
         

  - (542) 3,834 856 3,834 314 4,148 
Other recognised gains/(losses)         
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension                  161 - - - 161 - 161 

        

         

         

Net movement in funds  161 (542) 3,834 856 3,995 314 4,309 



The Disabilities Trust Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 May 2018 

 Annual Report & Accounts – 2017/18                        58 

 
31. Business combinations 

 
On 30 November 2017, the assets and liabilities of the Brain Injury Rehabilitation Trust, a wholly 

owned subsidiary of The Disabilities Trust, were transferred to the charity on a restricted basis to be 

used to further the objects of BIRT, which is to relieve brain-injured people in any manner which is 

now or may be deemed to be charitable, particularly by the provision of supportive care, rehabilitation 

processes, medical treatment, neuropsychological service, residential services, sheltered or 

outreach housing, case management and vocational rehabilitation. BIRT is a UK charitable charitable 

company with registered charity number 800797-1 (England and Wales) and SC043579 (Scotland). 

It is also registered with Companies House with company registration number 2863860. 

 

The transaction has been accounted for as an acquisition. No cash consideration has been paid to 

BIRT, so no goodwill adjustments on acquisition are required. There were no adjustments to the book 

values of the assets and liabilities acquired in order to present the net assets of that company at fair 

values in accordance with group accounting principles. 

 

The net assets acquired at 30 November 2017 have been recorded as a donation received in the 

Charity statement of financial activities. 

 
BIRT merger 
 

 Book value 

Consistency 
of 

accounting 
policy 

Carrying 
value of 

assets and 
liabilities Fair value 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Tangible & Intangible fixed assets  870 - 
- 
- 870 

Stock 17 - - 17 

Debtors 7,911 - - 7,911 

Cash at bank 2,775 - - 2,775 

Creditors (1,690) - - (1,690) 

Provision for liabilities and charges (152) - - (152) 

 9,731 - - 9,731 

 
 
The book values of the assets and liabilities have been taken from the unaudited accounts prepared at 
30 November 2017. 
 
From the date of the merger, the contribution of BIRT to the results of the group was as follows: 
 
    £’000 

Total incoming resources    12,968 

Total resources expended    (12,651) 
Net incoming resources derived from 
acquired activities    317 
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32. Contingent liability 
 
National Living Wage (NLW) and Sleep Ins-Impact 
 
Sleep-ins occur in cases where Service Users require a staff member to be physically present at night 

in case of emergency but the staff member is not required to be working and is allowed to sleep unless 

required to work. Sleep-ins are provided only when specified by funding authorities and have historically 

been paid on a flat rate to staff. The Disabilities Trust, along with other providers, had been of the view 

that payment of Sleep-ins, as they were not time worked, were not governed by regulations regarding 

national minimum wage (this reflected the guidance that had been issued by the Department of 

Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (“BEIS”) and its predecessors).  However, the Trust has for 

many years implemented a “top up” mechanism to ensure that pay for individuals does not fall behind 

the national minimum wage. 

 

From October 2017, The Disabilities Trust, in response to uncertainties emerging in the interpretation 

of the regulations, and to issues regarding maintenance of internal pay differentials, rebalanced the 

Sleep-isn costs to afford a higher Sleep-ins shift pay rate to reduce the need for top up payments to 

staff.  This also minimises any potential liability going forwards for the Trust should there be any further 

change in the law regarding pay relating to Sleep-ins shifts. 

 

HMRC had been undertaking compliance reviews on providers within the social care sector as to 

whether regulations applying to Sleep-ins are being met. This could potentially have the effect of national 

living wage being applied on Sleep-ins for past periods up to six years if the ruling is changed to regard 

sleep ins as time worked. Due to the significant detrimental effect that such rulings could have on the 

social care sector, there have been significant discussions concerning how potential liabilities might be 

funded between the sector’s provider organisations, the government departments involved and HMRC. 

However, it is not clear how the matter will be resolved and, should back payments be ruled as required, 

whether or not central government will fund these liabilities. However, it has been clarified that HMRC 

will not be levying the significant penalties that can apply when national living wage conditions have 

been breached for any non-compliance found prior to 27 July 2017. It is thought that the worst case 

liability, excluding penalties but including add-on costs, may be up to £1.2m for The Disabilities Trust. 

 

The Disabilities Trust’s consolidated unrestricted reserves stand at £83.6m of which 45% are held as 

cash or liquid investments and if the liability crystallises, the Trustees believe this would not have a 

material impact on the charity. 
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